# T Cells in Patients with B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (B-CLL) and Multiple Myeloma (MM)

# **An Immunological Study**

Shahryar Kiaii



Stockholm 2007

**Doctoral Dissertation** 

All previously published papers and figures were reproduced with the permission from the corresponding publishers.

© Shahryar Kiaii, 2007 Karolinska Institutet Department of Oncology-Pathology Stockholm, Sweden

ISBN 91-7357-050-8

To the people who taught me, and to my family.

# Table of contents

ABBREVIATIONSiii					
A	BSTRAC	Т	. v		
L	IST OF F	PUBLICATIONS	.vi		
1	THE	IMMUNE SYSTEM	1		
	1.1	INNATE (NON-SPECIFIC) IMMUNITY	. 1		
	1.1.1	Physical barriers	. 1		
	1.1.2	Physiological barriers	. 1		
	1.1.3	Phagocytes	. 1		
	1.1.4	Natural Killer (NK) Cells and Natural Killer T (NKT) cells	2		
	1.1.5	Discrimination of pathogens by the innate system	3		
	1.2	ADAPTIVE (SPECIFIC) IMMUNE SYSTEM	4		
	1.2.1	Formation of antigen-specific receptors on T and B cells	4		
	1.2.2	Lymphoid organs			
	1.2.3	Antigen presentation and the MHC molecules	6		
	1.2.4	Antigen recognition by I cells	/		
	1.2.3	TCK signaling	/		
	1.2.0	<i>Effector T cells</i>	10		
	1.2	6.2 Cytotoxic T cells	10		
	1.2.7	Regulatory T cells $(T_{reg})$	11		
	1.2.8	<i>B lymphocytes</i>	11		
	1.2	.8.1 T-cell dependent responses	12		
	1.2	.8.2 T-cell independent responses	12		
	1.3	SUPERANTIGENS	12		
2	MUL	TIPLE MYELOMA (MM)	14		
	2.1	FRIDEMICLOCY	1/		
	2.1	FTIOLOGY	14		
	2.2	GENETIC AT TERATIONS AND PATHOGENESIS	15		
	2.5	CUNICAL MANIFESTATIONS	15		
	2.5	DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA	16		
	2.6	STAGING	16		
	2.7	PROGNOSTIC FACTORS	17		
	2.8	TREATMENT OF MM	18		
	2.9	BONE MARROW MICROENVIRONMENT	19		
	2.9.1	Osteoclasts	19		
	2.9.2	Osteoblasts	20		
	2.9.3	Other soluble factors	20		
	2.10	T CELLS IN MM	21		
3	B-CE	LL CHRONIC LYMPHOCYTIC LEUKEMIA (B-CLL)	23		
	3.1	EPIDEMIOLOGY	23		
	3.2	ETIOLOGY	24		
	3.3	CLINICAL MANIFESTATIONS	25		
	3.4	DIAGNOSTIC CRITERIA	26		
	3.5	STAGING	26		
	3.6	PROGNOSTIC FACTORS	28		
	3.6.1	Conventional prognostic factors	28		
	3.6.2	$IgV_H$ mutation status	28		
	3.6.3	<i>Z</i> -associated protein 70 (ZAP-70)	28		
	3.6.4	Chromosomal aberrations	29		

3.6.5 CD38 expression 3.7 TREATMENT OF CLL	29 30
3.7 TREATMENT OF CLL	30
3.7.1 Which nations needs therapy?	
<i>5.7.1 which puttern needs therapy</i> :	30
3.7.2 Single-Agent Therapies	30
3.7.3 Combination Therapies	31
3.7.4 Stem Cell Transplantation	32
3.8 MICROENVIRONMENTAL SUPPORT TO CLL CLONE	33
3.9 T CELLS IN CLL	34
	25
4 AIMS OF THE THESIS	
5 PATIENTS AND METHODS	38
6 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	42
7 FUTURE PROSPECTS	48
8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	50
9 REFERENCES	52

PAPERS I-IV

# ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	Antibody
Ag	Antigen
Allo-SCT	Allogeneic Stem Cell Transplantation
APC	Antigen Presenting Cell
APRIL	A Proliferation Inducing Ligand
ASCT	Autologous Stem Cell Transplantation
ATM	Ataxia Telangiectasia Mutated
β2m	β2 Microglobulin
BAFF	B cell-activating factor of the tumor necrosis factor family
BCR	B Cell Receptor
BM	Bone Marrow
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CDR	Complementarity Determining Region
CLL (B-CLL)	Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CR	Complete Response
CTL	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte
CTLA-4	Cytotoxic T Lymphocyte Antigen 4
DAG	Diacylglycerol
DC	Dendritic Cell
EBV	Epstein-Barr Virus
Erk	Extracellular-regulated Kinase
FACS	Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorting
FC	Fludarabine + Cyclophosphamide
FCR	Fludarabine + Cyclophosphamide + Rituximab
FDC	Follicular DC
FluCam	Fludarabine + alemtuzumab
HDT	High-Dose Therapy
HGF	Hepatocyte Growth Factor
HRD	Hyperdiploid myeloma
HSV	Herpes Simplex Virus
GC	Germinal Center
GM-CSF	Granulocyte-Macrophage Colony Stimulating Factor
IFN	Interferon
Ig	Immunoglobulin
IGF	Insulin-like Growth Factor
IL	Interleukin
IP3	Inositol Triphosphate
iNOS	Inducible Nitric Oxide

ITAM	Immunoreceptor Tyrosine-based Activation Motif
KLF6	Krupple-Like Factor 6
LAT	Linker of Activation in T cells
LDH	Lactate Dehydrogenase
LDT	Lymphocyte Doubling Time
mAb	Monoclonal Ab
MFI	Mean Fluorescent Intensity
MGUS	Monoclonal Gammopathy of Undetermined Significance
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Antigen
MIP	Macrophage Inflammatory Protein
MM	Multiple Myeloma
NFκB	Nuclear Transcription Factor kB
NHRD	Non-hyperdiploid
NK	Natural Killer
NKT	Natural Killer T
NLC	Nurse-Like Cell
NO	Nitric Oxide
OPG	Osteoprotegerin
OS	Overall Survival
PBMC	Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell
PI3-K	Phosphatidyl-Inositol-3 Kinase
PIP2	Phosphatidyl Inositol Bisphosphate
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PHA	Phytohemagglutinin
PPD	Tuberculin Purified Protein Derivative
QRT-PCR	Quantitative Reverse Transcribed-PCR
RANKL	Receptor Activator of NFkB Ligand
SDF-1	Stromal Cell Derived Fcator-1
SEB	Staphylococcal Enterotoxin B
Tc	Cytotoxic T Cell
TCL-1	T Cell Leukemia-1
TCR	T Cell Receptor
Th	Helper T Cell
TGF-β	Transforming Growth Factor-β
TLR	Toll-Like Receptor
T-PLL	T-cell Prolymphocytic Leukemia
TNF	Tumor Necrosis Factor
TRAF	TNF Receptor Associated Factor
VEGF	Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor
$V_{\rm H}$	Variable of Heavy Chain
ZAP-70	ζ-associated protein 70

## ABSTRACT

There are several lines of evidence that T cells in patients with Multiple Myeloma (MM) and Bcell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (B-CLL) are phenotypically aberrant. The overall aim of this thesis was to study T cells with a focus on TCR-signaling pathways in these two B-cell malignancies. The role of T-cells in B-CLL etiology was also examined.

In the first study the expression of the TCR $\alpha\beta$ , CD28, CD152, CD154 and the signal transduction molecules CD3 $\zeta$ , Lck, Fyn, ZAP-70 and PI3-kinase was studied. In addition, the cytokines IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4 and IL-2 in unstimulated and superantigen-stimulated T cells of MM patients at different stages of the disease was examined by intracellular staining and flow cytometry. The results of this study demonstrated multiple abnormalities both in freshly isolated T cells and following *in vitro* activation. The CD3 $\zeta$ -chain, Lck, Fyn and ZAP-70 were all generally downregulated and did not respond normally to a TCR-activating signal. The aberrations increased with advancing disease stage and tumor burden.

The second study was undertaken to examine the TCR-signaling components as well as cytokine production in T cells of CLL patients with indolent or progressive disease. The cumulative data of this study suggest that several but not all T cell signaling molecules may be normal or even overexpressed in B-CLL patients in comparison to normal T cells. This observation was especially true in patients with indolent CLL. In addition, the expressions of CD3- $\zeta$  chain and ZAP-70, which are key molecules in the initiating of intracellular TCR signaling pathway, as well as IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4 were overexpressed to a greater extent in indolent patients than in progressive patients. The overall impression collected from these results suggest that the T cells in B-CLL demonstrate a state of chronic stimulation although this activation does not result in spontaneous anti-leukemic effector activity.

Fludarabine is a purine analogue and alemtuzumab a humanized anti-CD52 monoclonal Ab that are used for treatment of B-CLL. Treatment with either of these agents results in significant reduction of T cells and inhibition of cell mediated immunity. In the next study we investigated the expression of signaling molecules and cytokine production by T-cells of B-CLL patients who were in long-term unmaintained remission/plateau phase following fludarabine or alemtuzumab treatment. T-cell function was assessed after stimulation with the recall antigen, tuberculin purified protein derivative (PPD) or the polyclonal mitogen phytohemagglutinin (PHA). The results of this study demonstrated that T-cell functions might be relatively well preserved long-term after treatment with fludarabine and alemtuzumab.

In the fourth work we have analyzed global gene expression profiles of T cells from the blood of indolent B-CLL patients in an attempt to delineate T cell factors that may potentially influence the malignant B-CLL cells. We have also attempted to identify genes that may contribute to expansion and aberrant functions of T-cells in B-CLL patients. The results of this study demonstrate the expression of a large number (356) of genes that are involved in different cellular pathways and activities including signaling, proliferation control, apoptosis, metabolism, immune response, and cytoskeleton formation are dysregulated. Three genes that demonstrated the greatest upregulation were the chemokines XCL1, XCL2, and the cytokine IFN- $\gamma$ . CCL4 and CCL5 are two other important chemokines that also was found to be specifically upregulated in T cells of B-CLL patients.

Collectively, our results indicate that T cells of MM and B-CLL patients exhibit a variety of anomalies and aberrations in their phenotype and function, which are exacerbated with progressive disease. The preservation of T cell function observed in patients on long term follow up following treatment with these agents may be due to a small population of noncycling memory T cells that remain relatively unaffected by the treatment. The results of the microarray analysis demonstrate that T-cells in B-CLL potentially produce several factors that may have a supportive and antiapoptotic function on the leukemic clone giving credence to the hypothesis that T cells in B-CLL may contribute to the etiology of the malignancy. The therapeutic potential of agents like fludarabine and alemtuzumab may partially be attributable to their ability towards reducing these abnormal T cells.

Key words: T cell, B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia, Multiple Myeloma, signaling, gene expression

#### ISBN: 91-7357-050-8

# LIST OF PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following publications, which will be referred to in the text by their Roman numbers.

- Mozaffari F, Hansson\* L, Kiaii\* S, Ju X, Rossmann ED, Rabbani H, Mellstedt H, Österborg A. Signalling molecules and cytokine production in T cells of multiple myeloma -increased abnormalities with advancing stage. Br J Haematol 2004; 124: 315-24. (\*, contributed equally).
- II. Kiaii S, Choudhury A, Mozaffari F, Kimby E, Österborg A, Mellstedt H. Signaling Molecules and Cytokine Production in T Cells of Patients with B-Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (B-CLL): Comparison of Indolent and Progressive Disease. Med Oncol 2005; 22: 291-302.
- III. Kiaii S, Choudhury A, Mozaffari F, Rezvany R, Lundin J, Mellstedt H, Österborg A. Signaling molecules and cytokine production in T cells of patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: long-term effects of fludarabine and alemtuzumab treatment. Leuk Lymphoma 2006;47: 1229-38.
- IV. Kiaii S, Österborg A, Mashayekhi K, Moshfegh A, Choudhury A, and Mellstedt H. Gene expression profiling of peripheral blood T cells in patients with indolent B-CLL. (Manuscript)

# 1 THE IMMUNE SYSTEM

The immune system is the integrated body system of organs, tissues, cells, and cell products that is responsible for defending the body from potentially pathogenic organisms or substances. It consists of trillions of cells and is widely dispersed throughout the body. The continuous recirculation of cells facilitates rapid detection of invading pathogens and provides effective countermeasures in various tissue environments. This system consists of two parts: innate and adaptive immune and a continuous interplay between both parts are required.

## **1.1** Innate (non-specific) immunity

The innate system, which forms early barriers to infectious diseases, is comprised of all the mechanisms that defend an organism in non-specific manner. It evolved long before the adaptive system and with a similar defense strategy in plants, invertebrates, and vertebrates [1, 2]. The innate immune mechanisms act immediately, destroys invaders within minutes or hours but do not generate long-lasting protective immunity or memory. Innate immunity depends upon germline-encoded receptors to recognize features that are common to many pathogens, which discriminates very effectively between host (self) cells and pathogens (non-self) [3, 4].

## **1.1.1 Physical barriers**

Physical barriers are an organism's first line of defense against infection such as the skin and the mucus membranes. Saliva, tears and mucous secretions (that contain various soluble anti-bacterial agents) act to wash away potential invaders and also contain antibacterial or antiviral substances [3, 4].

## 1.1.2 Physiological barriers

A variety of factors, such as temperature, pH, and oxygen tension are important in this respect. Various soluble factors may also contribute such as lysozymes, interferons, phospholipase A, histatins, digestive enzymes, bile salts, fatty acids, lysolipids,  $\alpha$ -defensins,  $\beta$ -defensines, and complement elements as well as normal flora of nonpathogenic bacteria in epithelial surfaces [3, 4].

### 1.1.3 Phagocytes

Phagocytes are neutrophils, monocytes or macrophages that engulf foreign particles or microorganisms. They are originating from common myeloid progenitor cells. Neutrophils are the most numerous and most important cellular component of the innate immune response: hereditary deficiencies in neutrophils lead to overwhelming bacterial infection [3]. The invading microorganism is transported inside a vacuole that merges with lysosomes, vacuoles rich in enzymes and acids, which digest the particle or organism. Phagocytosis is also an important part of the cleaning process after cellular destruction following infection, tissue trauma, exposure to toxins, or any other process that leads to cellular death. Neutrophils and macrophages are the most abundant cells in areas of inflammation [3, 4].

#### 1.1.4 Natural Killer (NK) cells and Natural Killer T (NKT) cells

Natural killer cells or NK cells, which originate from common lymphoid progenitor cells, are distinctive in that NK cells are lymphocytes that attack cells that have been infected by microbes, but not specifically the microbes themselves. NK cells may also display activity against tumor cells. NK cells recognize targets that have "missing self" i.e., display non-self or low levels of self MHC (major histocompatibility complex) class I cell surface marker molecules [3, 4]. NK cells have the phenotype  $CD16^+/CD3^-$ . NK cells have two types of receptors: one is homologues to c-type lectins and is called the NK receptor complex (NKC). The other is composed with immunoglobulin (Ig)-like domains, which is called killer cell Ig-like receptors (KIRs). Apart from antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity (ADCC), NK cells are very important for defense against certain bacteria and parasites [5, 6] because of their ability to produce IFN- $\gamma$ , which enhances the activity of phagocytic cells, especially in the early phase of infection. NK cells have also been found to be important for the defense against cytomegalovirus (CMV), Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV), and herpes simplex virus (HSV) [7-9]. Importantly, NK cells also play an important role in T cell priming, and thus triggers and shapes the adaptive immune system [10]. During activation of an immune response, NK cells home to the lymph nodes especially in Ag-stimulated draining lymph nodes [10]. This process might be promoted by signaling through Toll-Like Receptors (TLRs) on innate immune cells. Further cross-talk between NK cells, DCs, and T-cells sustain immune responses against pathogens and tumors [11]. In this process, NK cells are an important source of IFN- $\gamma$  which is necessary for T<sub>H</sub>1 T cell responses [10].

Some lymphocytes display a mixed phenotype of both NK and T cells  $(CD16^+/CD56^+/CD3^+)$  and are therefore called NKT cells. NKT cells are a specialized lineage of T cells that recognize glycolipid antigens presented by the MHC class I-like molecule CD1d [12]. NKT cells are derived from the small fraction of thymocytes that have randomly generated CD1d-reactive T cell receptors (typically comprising Va14- Ja18 combined with either V $\beta$ 8.2, V $\beta$ 7, or V $\beta$ 2) [13]. When these cells encounter CD1d, they differentiate to the NKT cell lineage [13].

The TCRs of NKT cells are semi-invariant. Thus, the NKT cell receptor resembles more closely the conserved pattern recognition receptors of innate immunity than the diverse antigen-specific receptors of adaptive immunity [14].

NKT cells become activated during a variety of infections and contribute to protective host immune responses. For Gram-negative bacteria containing LPS, recognition of microbial products by TLRs on DCs results in NKT cell activation. Alternatively, for certain Gram negative bacteria that lack LPS, NKT cells may be activated by specific microbial glycosphingolipids [14]. The same lytic mechanisms for NK cells have been observed in NKT cells, but it seems that the Fas/Fas-ligand is the preferred system [15].

The activation of NKT cells sometimes lead to suppression of immune responses, and it is not clear what conditions lead to suppression or activation of the immune system [16].

#### 1.1.5 Discrimination of pathogens by the innate system

Although not antigen-specific, the innate system is able to discriminate foreign molecules from self. Phagocytes have receptors with lectin-like activity which recognize structures termed "pathogen-associated molecular patterns" present on microbes, but not host cells. Examples are lipopolysaccharides, lipotechoic acid, and mannans on gram negative, gram positive, and yeast cell walls, respectively. The pattern-recognition receptor molecules fall into three groups depending on function; those inducing endocytosis and thus enhancing antigen presentation; those initiating nuclear factor transduction and cell activation (toll-like receptors) and those, for example mannan binding lectin, which are secreted acting as opponing. The increasing knowledge of these recognition pathways highlights the close relation between innate and adoptive immunity. A pattern recognition receptor presents the processed product to antigen-specific T cells. The interactions allowing the innate response to eradicate infectious agents, such as phagocytosis, opsonisation, and complement-mediated lysis, require exposure to the surface of the microbe. The response is therefore largely confined to eradicating extracellular organisms, mostly bacteria. This system is not able to detect intracellular organisms, notably viruses, mycobacteria, some fungi, protozoa, or other facultative intracellular pathogens [3, 4]. Activation of TLRs triggers the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the expression of co-stimulatory molecules [17]. Activation of NFkB by toll pathway leads to production of several important mediators of innate immune system such as, IL-1, IL-6, IL-8, IL-12 and TNF-α [17].

## **1.2** Adaptive (specific) immune system

The adaptive immunity is characterized by applying specific immune responses against invaders and non-self antigens through antigen-specific receptors on T and B cells. First, the antigen is presented to and recognized by the T or B cell leading to cell priming, activation, and differentiation, which usually occurs within the lymphoid tissue. Second, the effector phase takes place, either due to the activated T cells homing to the target site, and/or due to the release of specific antibodies from activated B cells (plasma cells) into the blood. As there is a delay of 4-7 days before the initial adaptive immune response becomes effective, the innate immunity play a critical role during this early period [3, 4].

#### **1.2.1** Formation of antigen-specific receptors on T and B cells

B and T lymphocytes originate from progenitor cells within the bone marrow. B cells (bone marrow derived) remain within the marrow for the development, but T cells (thymus derived) migrate to the thymus at an early stage [3]. The production of antigen-specific receptors on both cell types is the result of random rearrangement and splicing on multiple DNA segments that encode for the antigen-binding areas of the receptors (complementary-determining regions, CDRs). This step-wise gene rearrangement occurs early in the development of the cells, before exposure to antigen and leads to the production of a repertoire of over 10<sup>8</sup> T-cell receptors (TCRs) and 10<sup>10</sup> antibody specificities, sufficient to cover pathogens likely to be encountered in life. The process for B-cell receptor (BCR) rearrangement is similar for the TCR. There are four segments of genes involved in receptor formation called the variable (V), diversity (D), joining (J), and constant (C) regions. These are found on different chromosomes within the developing cell. The segments are cut out by nucleases and spliced together using ligases (a product of the recombination activation genes, RAG-1 and RAG-2). This forms the final gene sequence from which protein will be transcribed to form the receptor molecule. There are several ways in which clonal diversity occurs. First, there is a multiplicity of all these regions within the DNA (V=25-100 genes,  $D\sim25$  genes, and  $J\sim50$  genes). Second, there is combinational freedom in that any one of the genes can join with any one other to form the final VDJ region. Third, the splicing is inaccurate and frame shift in base pairs leads to the production of a different amino acid (junctional diversity). Fourth, the enzyme deoxyribonucleotidyltransferase can insert nucleotides to further alter the sequence. An even greater repertoire of BCR is produced as further immunoglobulin (Ig) gene rearrangement occurs during B-cell division after antigen stimulation (somatic hypermutation).

In T lymphocytes the receptor has two forms. The most common consists of a heterodimer of an  $\alpha$  and a  $\beta$  chain, each with a constant and variable domain. The

other form (<10% of T cells) has  $\gamma$  and  $\delta$  chains (the function of this type of TCR bearing cell remains uncertain). The TCR forms a complex with the CD3 molecule, with its associated signaling molecules (Figure 1). In B cells the gene product is a membrane bound form of IgM, initially expressed alone and later with IgD. Early in B-cell development this molecule acts as the antigen receptor, being able to induce signal transduction in a similar way to the TCR. The membrane bound molecule can also internalize antigen, inducing processing, and re-expression for antigen presentation to T cells. After B-cell activation the secreted form of BCR (antibody) is produced by plasma cells. Despite the similarities in gene rearrangement processes, the T and B cell receptors recognize antigen differently. The TCR binds linear peptides usually of eight to nine amino acids (see below). This generally means antigen that has been broken down by intracellular processing by antigen presenting cells. The BCR and antibody recognize the conformational structure of epitopes, and such antigens do not require processing. New clones of T and B cells continues to emerge through life, but slows after the 25-30 years of age [3, 4].



Figure 1. TCR, CD3-complex, and ITAMs of TCR.

### 1.2.2 Lymphoid organs

In the lymphoid organs, the lymphocytes interact with nonlymphoid cells which is important either to lymphocyte development, to the initiation of adaptive immune responses, or to their survival and maintenance. Lymphoid organs are divided to central or primary lymphoid organs, and peripheral or secondary lymphoid organs. The cells that emerge from the thymus and bone marrow (primary lymphoid organs) having undergone gene rearrangement are naïve, i.e. they have not yet encountered their specific antigen. The secondary lymphoid tissues (lymph nodes, spleen, tonsils, and mucosa associated lymphoid tissue) provide the microenvironment that brings the naïve T and B cells as well as antigen presenting cells (APCs) together, where adaptive immune responses are initiated and where lymphocytes are maintained [3, 4].

Although about 95% of T lymphocytes are sequestered within the lymphoid tissue, they are not static but circulate continuously between the lymphoid tissues via the blood or lymph in 1-2 days. When the T cell meets an APC bearing its specific antigen, activation occurs over the next 2-3 days. The antigen is brought to the lymphoid tissue directly in the lymphatics, or within dendritic (or other APCs) cells that have captured the antigen locally. Antigens in the blood are taken to the spleen, in the tissues to the lymph nodes, and from the mucosae to the mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue [3, 4].

#### **1.2.3** Antigen presentation and the MHC molecules

To mount an immune response, antigens have to be processed and presented by an APC to the T cell within the peptide-binding groove of a self-MHC molecule.

Depending on the antigen, loading onto MHC can occur in two different ways [3, 4]. Endogenous such as viral or tumor proteins are combined with MHC class I intracellularly. Exogenous antigens are taken up by endocytosis by specialized professional APCs which include DCs, B cells, and macrophages. Exogenous antigens are expressed with MHC class II on the APCs. There are about 100,000 MHC molecules on the surface of each cell [3, 4]. Macrophages and DCs also present exogenous antigens through MHC class I pathway. This relatively new finding is called "cross presentation" [18, 19]. The exact mechanism of cross presentation pathway is not clear. However, there are two proposed ways which might not be mutually exclusive. One model suggests the processed antigenic peptides within the phagolysosome is exchanged with the peptides bound to MHC class I molecules internalized from the cell surface into the same phagolysosome. Alternatively the antigenic peptide might be processed within the phagolysosome that might have transient, regulated continuity with the ER. In this fashion, nascent class I molecules are loaded with the peptides derived from exogenous antigens by a process identical to normal peptide loading within the ER [20]. Cross presentation is involved in responses to transplantation, viral infections as well as malignant cells.

The induction of an adaptive immune response begins when an immature DC ingests a pathogen. These specialized phagocytic cells are resident in most tissues and are long-lived compared to other white blood cells [3, 4]. Eventually, the tissue resident DCs migrate to the regional lymph nodes where they interact with recirculating naive lymphocytes. On activation, the DC matures and undergoes

changes that enable it to activate the specific lymphocytes and secretes cytokines that influence both innate and adaptive immune responses.

#### **1.2.4** Antigen recognition by T cells

CD4 lymphocytes recognize antigen presented with MHC class II and CD8 cells with MHC class I. Endogenous antigens accompanied with MHC class I molecules activate CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic T cells. Because almost all nucleated cells express MHC class I, this means that any such cell that is infected with a virus or other intracellular pathogen, or is producing abnormal antigens e.g. tumor antigen, can present these antigens with class I and can be targeted by cytotoxic attack. Whereas these CD8 responses are highly targeted to the cell that they recognize, CD4 activation leads to production of cytokines that in turn activate a wide range of cells around them. The reaction therefore needs to be kept under control, which is achieved by only a small number of class II expressing APCs. The need for intracellular processing and expression with MHC ensures that only antigens derived from what is regarded as foreign molecules are recognized [3, 4].

#### 1.2.5 TCR signaling

The TCR is made up of clonally variable Ag-binding chains ( $\alpha$  and  $\beta$ ) that are associated with invariant accessory proteins. The invariant chains are required both for transport of the receptors to the cell surface and for the initiation of signals when TCR binds to an Ag:self-MHC complex.

The TCR also contains different accessory chains such as CD3 $\gamma$ , CD3 $\delta$ , CD3 $\epsilon$  (that make up the CD3 complex), and the  $\zeta$  chain, which is present mainly as an intracytoplasmic homodimer (Figure 1) [21-23]. Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activation motifs (ITAMs) are amino acid sequences that are composed of two tyrosine residues separated by about 9-12 amino acids. The TCR complex in total contains ten ITAMs (Figure 1). Many receptors employ ITAMs, such as BCR, NK cell receptors, and Fc receptors on mast cell, macrophages, and monocytes. When Ag binds to TCR, the tyrosines in these ITAMs become phosphorylated and are then able to bind with high affinity to the members of tyrosine kinases. Phosphorylation of tyrosines in ITAMs serves as the first intracellular signal indicating that the T cell has recognized its specific Ag (Figure 2) [21-23]. The initial events in TCR are implemented by two Src-family kinases, Lck and Fyn. Lck is constitutively associated with  $\zeta$  and CD3 $\epsilon$  chains upon receptor clustering [21-23].



Figure 2. TCR, CD3-complex, and the signaling pathway through TCR.

Aggregation of TCR:peptide:MHC with the coreceptor brings the Lck in proximity of ITAMs in cytoplasmic tails of TCR complex that leads to phosphorylation of ITAMs. Coreceptors on the surface of the T cell that transmit signals, referred to signal 2, cause activation if the TCR is also engaged. Without signal 2, the cell will either become anergic (non-reactive) or go into apoptosis [3]. The main coreceptors for T-cell activation are CD80 (B7-1), CD86 (B7-2), and CD40 that bind CD28, CTLA-4, and CD40 ligand on the T cell, respectively [3]. Activated DCs are the most potent stimulators of naive T cells, bearing large amounts of CD80, CD86, and CD40. Inflammatory mediators induce the upregulation of costimulatory molecules,

The double phosphotyrosines in ITAMs acts as binding site for another kinase,  $\zeta$ associated protein 70 (ZAP-70). Following binding, ZAP-70 becomes phosphorylated and thereby activated by Lck (Figure 2). Once activated, ZAP-70 phosphorylates the substrate LAT (linker of activation in T cells) and a protein called SLP-76 [21-23].

The next step in the signaling pathway is to amplify the signal at the cell membrane, and finally transfer it through the cytoplasm to the nucleus. Several classes of proteins participate in signal amplification. These involve the enzyme PLC- $\gamma$ , which initiates two of the main signaling pathways that lead to the nucleus. Activated PLC- $\gamma$  cleaves phosphatidyl inositol bisphosphate (PIP2) to generate the intracellular second messenger diacylglycerol (DAG) and inositol triphosphate (IP3). The other main pathway is generated by activation of the small G protein Ras. These three pathways amplify the signal from the activated receptors to the nucleus by many mediators, leading to cell proliferation and differentiation (Figure 2) [21-23].

The ultimate response of T cells to extracellular signals is the induction of expression of new genes. This is achieved through the activation of transcription factors. Several transcription factors are involved in T cell responses to Ags, such as extracellular-regulated kinase 1(Erk1), Erk2, nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT), and nuclear factor KB (NFKB) [21-23]. NFAT, for instance, is released from the cytosol by the action of the enzyme calcineurin. Calcineurin is itself activated by the increase of intracellular free  $Ca^{2+}$  that accompanies lymphocyte activation, the free  $Ca^{2+}$  is bound by calmodulin within the cell and the  $Ca^{2+}$ -calmodulin complex binds to and activates calcineurin. Once NFAT has been dephosphorylated by calcineurin it enters the nucleus, where it can act as a transcriptional regulatory protein [21-23]. Vav1, a 95-kDa protein expressed in all hemopoietic cells has been found to be involved in the TCR signaling pathway [24]. Vav1-deficient T cells are defective in TCR-induced proliferation and cytokine production. Vav1 is required to transduce signals to the activation of a calcium flux, ERK and the NF-kB transcription factor. Vav1 has also been shown to control the activation of PLC $\gamma$  via both PI3K-dependent and -independent pathways [24].

Upon activation clonal expansion of each T cell (and B cell) produces up to 1000 (2-4 divisions/day for 3-5 days) progeny of identical specificity [3]. Most of them are armed effector cells, which upregulate receptors, leave the lymphoid tissue and are guided to the site of inflammation by chemokines. Adhesion molecules attract both the effector and memory cells to the objective site [25], where the T cells will recognize target cells expressing the specific foreign antigen with MHC and initiate either a cytotoxic attack, or stimulate an inflammatory response. Some of the activated T cells remain in the lymph nodes as central memory cells which may live

for 10 years or more [3, 4]. They react more quickly on re-exposure to the same Ag. It is immunological memory that enables successful vaccination.

#### **1.2.6 Effector T cells**

Two major types of effector T cells have been identified, T helper (Th) and T cytotoxic (Tc), having either CD4 or CD8 molecules on their surface, respectively. CD4 Th cells are the leading cells of the immune response, recognizing foreign antigen, and activating other parts of the cell-mediated immune response. They also play a major part in activation of B cells. CD8 cytotoxic cells are involved in antiviral and anti-tumor reactivity. Both types have a major role in the control of intracellular pathogens [3, 4].

#### 1.2.6.1 Helper T cells

Th cells are subdivided functionally by the pattern of cytokines they produce. Upon stimulation, Th0 lymphocytes differentiate to either Th1 or Th2 cells. Th1 cells produce interleukin (IL)-2, which induces T cell proliferation (including that of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells in an autocrine response). IL-2 also stimulates CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell proliferation and cytotoxicity. Another cytokine produced by Th1 cells, interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ), activates macrophages and NK cells. The Th1 cytokines therefore induce mainly a cell-mediated inflammatory response. There is a positive feedback loop as interferon- $\gamma$  stimulates other Th0 cells to become Th1 and inhibits Th2 differentiation. A Th1 response is essential for fighting against pathogens, but possibly contributes to the pathogenesis of autoimmune diseases. On the contrary, Th2 cells produce IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, and IL-10 that favor antibody production. IL-4 induces class-switching in B cells to IgE production and IL-5 promotes the growth of eosinophils. IL-4 provides positive feedback to induce further Th2 responses and suppress Th1 differentiation. The Th2 response is also associated with allergic disease [3, 4].

#### 1.2.6.2 Cytotoxic T cells

CD8 T cells are directly cytotoxic to cells presenting their specific antigen. Thus these cells are also called cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL). Following binding to the target cell, they may release perforins and granzymes. These molecules via activating caspase enzymes, induce DNA fragmentation and cell apoptosis. CTL also binds target cell surface Fas (death inducing) molecules by their Fas ligand (FasL). Fas-FasL interaction also triggers apoptosis in the target cell [3, 4].

#### **1.2.7** Regulatory T cells (T<sub>reg</sub>)

Gershon and Kondo in 1971 were able to transfer Ag-specific tolerance to naive animals by transferring Ag-experienced T cells [26], which they called "suppressor" cells. Until the late 1980s there was not agreement about the concept of "suppressor" T cells. However, reports describing T cells responsible for antitumor immune suppression both in mice and human, clearly suggested the existence of *in vivo* mechanisms of tumor-driven cellular immune suppression [27].

Sakaguchi et al have found a population of CD4 T cells expressing high amounts of surface CD25 and inhibiting autoimmunity in a murine model [28]. Several reports in the following years explained major aspects of now called "regulatory" T cells ( $T_{reg}$  cells) and characterized different T-cell subpopulations with regulatory properties [27]. There are many different T-cell subpopulations with regulatory function that coexist and contribute to the immune suppression [29-32]. CD25<sup>high</sup> is one of the first markers introduced for  $T_{reg}$  cells in human however, since humans are constantly exposed to foreign antigens, leading to a significant fraction of recently activated CD25 effector T cells, CD25 may not be the optimal marker for  $T_{reg}$ . The transcription factor FoxP3 has been suggested as a more specific  $T_{reg}$  marker but some recent reports in humans showed FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T cells without suppressive activity [27].

CD4 CD25<sup>high</sup>FoxP3 T<sub>reg</sub> cells exhibits anergic status, ability to inhibit CD4 CD25 T cells, CD8 T cells, DCs, NK cells, NKT cells, and B cells in a cell-cell contact and dose-dependent manner [27, 33-38]. T<sub>reg</sub> cells are typically characterized as Ag experienced memory T cells, although some reports described them as naive cells. Cytotoxic T lymphocyte associated protein 4 (CTLA-4) and glucocorticoid-induced TNFR-related protein (GITR) are surface markers that are associated with the CD4 CD25<sup>high</sup>FoxP3 T<sub>reg</sub> cells [39, 40]. Functional importance of IL-10 and TGF- $\beta$  for T<sub>reg</sub> cells *in vivo* have been suggested [41, 42]. Major interest of current studies on T<sub>reg</sub> cells are the description of T<sub>reg</sub> cells in autoimmune diseases and their role in malignancies, infectious diseases and tolerance in transplantation [43-46].

#### **1.2.8 B lymphocytes**

B cells are specialized cells to produce antibody (Ab) that is responsible to neutralize toxins, prevents organisms adhering to mucosal surfaces, activates complement, opsonises bacteria for phagocytosis, and sensitizes tumor and infected cells for Abdependent cell-mediated cytotoxic (ADCC) attack by killer cells. Thus Ab enhances elements of the innate system. BCR internalizes antigen and takes it for processing to act as an Ag-presenting cell for T-cell responses. During subsequent infections by the same pathogen, follicular dendritic cells, which bear Fc receptor, can activate B cells and complement receptors, bind immune complexes containing Ag, and trap this to activate the B-cell response. There are five main heavy chain classes or isotypes: IgM, IgD, IgG, IgA, and IgE that confer the functional specialization of an Ab. The heavy chain segments encode these isotypes are  $\mu$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\gamma$ ,  $\alpha$ , and  $\varepsilon$ , respectively. In humans there are four subclasses of IgG (IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4) and two of IgA (IgA1 and IgA2) [3, 4].

#### 1.2.8.1 T-cell dependent responses

Antigen recognized by the surface IgM of the B cell, is internalized, processed, and expressed on the MHC class II molecule of the B cell. This can then present the antigen to a primed specific T cell (which recognizes a different part of the same antigen). The T cell in turn produces cytokines leading to B cell division and maturation to antibody secreting cells. Further T-cell interactions, in particular the binding of CD40 on B cells with the CD40L on T cells induces isotype switching from the initial IgM response. A mature but naïve B cell, that has rearranged its V(D)J gene, will initially make an IgM response on primary antigen stimulation because this is the first constant chain to be translocated. IgG and other isotype responses develop later and require additional T cell help. The process of B-cell activation occurs mainly within the germinal centers of lymph nodes. At this site somatic hypermutation occurs, leading to a greater diversity of antibodies and therefore the antibody response matures with increased affinity. Once the switch from IgM to another isotype has occurred, some of the activated cells become long-lived memory cells. The memory cells react rapidly to rechallenge and the secondary response occurs. The activated B cells leave the lymphoid tissue as plasma cells and migrate to the bone marrow (BM) [3, 4].

#### 1.2.8.2 T-cell independent responses

B cells can also respond to some Ags in a T-cell independent manner. This response is generated against such Ags which have repeating epitopes that bind multiple BCRs and activate the B cell directly. In this way no affinity maturation, class switching or generation of memory cells occurs. T-cell independent responses are therefore IgM limited, of poor specificity, and short-lived [3, 4].

## **1.3** Superantigens

Superantigens have a unique style of binding to both MHC and TCR molecules that enables them to stimulate very large numbers of T cells. Superantigens are produced by many different pathogens and the responses they cause are helpful to the pathogen rather than the host [3].

Superantigens are recognized by T cells without being processed into peptides. In addition to binding MHC class II molecules, superantigens bind to the V $\beta$  region of many TCRs (Figure 3) [3]. Bacterial superantigens bind mainly to the V $\beta$  CDR2 loop, and to a smaller extent to the V $\beta$  CDR1 loop and an additional loop called the hypervariable 4 or HV4 loop [3]. Thus, the  $\alpha$ -chain V region and the CDR3 of the  $\beta$  chain of the TCR have not vital effects on superantigen recognition. Each superantigen is specific for one or a few of the different V $\beta$  gene segments, of which there are 20-50 in mice and humans; a superantigen can thus stimulate 2-20% of all T cells [3].



**Figure 3.** Superantigens bind directly to TCR and to MHC molecules. The panel A shows a staphylococcal enterotoxin (SE) superantigen, and the panel B shows viral superantigen.

# 2 MULTIPLE MYELOMA (MM)

MM is a lymphoproliferative disorder characterized by clonal proliferation of plasmacells (PC) and post-germinal center B cells [47]. MM accounts for more than 10% of all hematological malignancies [48]. This disease is characterized by the presence of a monoclonal Ig (the M component) that is detected in the serum and/or urine. Most patients have clinical symptoms and abnormalities in physiological parameters including painful osteolytic lesions, hypercalcemia, anemia and renal impairment.

Despite advances in systemic therapy, MM is still an incurable disease. During the past decade, novel insights into the biology of the disease have provided new therapeutic agents such as bortezomib, thalidomide and lenalidomide that target the malignant cells and its bone marrow microenvironment.

# 2.1 Epidemiology

The incidence of MM is relatively stable in most countries and the incidence rates vary from 0.4 to 5 per 100,000 with higher rates in the Western word compared to Asian Countries [49, 50]. The median age of diagnosis is 68 and it is rare under the age of 40. One of the highest incidence rates has been reported in Sweden, with 304 new cases in men and 254 in women in 2004 [51]. Mortality from MM has increased gradually over the last few decades in USA and across Europe [50, 52]. However, the incidence of MM in Sweden has been relatively constant for several decades [53]. The median survival for the patients with MM ranges from 3.5 to 4 years [54]. However, the range is from less than 6 months to greater than 10 years [55] indicating heterogeneity in biology which may be critical for understanding the disease.

## 2.2 Etiology

The cause of myeloma is still mainly unknown. Several studies have indicated an increased risk of myeloma among workers in the nuclear industry [56, 57]. Environmental factors such as agricultural chemicals, pesticides, benzene, metals, petroleum products and, chronic antigenic stimulation have been speculated to be associated with MM [58-63]. Although direct genetic linkage has not been found, hereditary factors might impact on MM development [64, 65].

Two distinct pathways in the pathogenesis of MM has been suggested: one involving an early IgH translocation and mostly is associated with non-hyperdiploid chromosome content and a second, that infrequently involves early IgH translocation and is associated with hyperdiploid chromosome content and multiple trisomies [48]. Dysregulation of a cyclin D gene also appears to be early event [47].

## 2.3 Genetic alterations and pathogenesis

MM development depends on several genetic alterations. The translocations of the IgH gene (locus 14q32) is correlated with the disease stage and is present in about 50% of patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance (MGUS) and asymptomatic MM, 85% of cases with plasma cell leukemia and in >90% of human myeloma cell lines [66-68]. The major oncogenes that are involved in the chromosomal translocation process of the IgH genes, which are referred as primary IgH translocations, and are present in about 40% of MM and MGUS cases are; 11q13 (CCN D1) (15%), 4p16 (MMSET and usually FGFR3) (15%), 16q23 (c-MAF) (5%), 6p21 (CCN D3) (3%), and 20q11(MAFB)(2%) [69-71]. The apparent increased prevalence of IgH translocations of 4p16 and 16q23 in MM suggests that these translocations might be associated with rapid progression from MGUS to MM [47]. Secondary translocations that accounts for other 20-30% of MM cases, sometimes do not involve Ig loci, and are associated with unbalanced and more complex translocations. They are not mediated through the B-cell genome modification mechanisms and are related to other oncogenes, e.g. c-myc (8q24), and are frequently allied with tumor progression [69]. About 30% of MM and 45% of MGUS cases do not have either an IgH or IgL translocation [47]. Aneuploidy is another characteristics of MM. In MM two major ploidy categories have been proposed: the hyperdiploid myeloma (HRD), which is characterized by the increased prevalence of multiple trisomies involving chromosomes 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, 15, 19, and 21, and the nonhyperdiploid (NHRD) tumors which can be hypodiploid, pseudodiploid or subtetraploid [47, 67, 70]. Monosomy 13 is also present in 50-60% of MM cases.

Recent analyses from gene expression profiling suggest that in practically all MM and MGUS cases, regardless of IgH translocation, at least one of the cyclin D genes (D1, D2 or D3) is highly expressed [47].

## 2.4 Clinical manifestations

About 70% of MM patients suffer from bone pain, which is caused by the proliferation of tumor cells, activation of osteoclasts that destroy the bone, compression (osteoporosis) fractures of the spine, and pathologic fractures of the long bones.

Recurrent bacterial infections are the second most common clinical problem in patients with myeloma, in particular pneumonias and urinary tract infections. 50%-70% of the patients with MM die as a result of bacterial infections [72]. Diffuse hypogammaglobulinemia of all IgG, IgM and IgA subtypes is another feature of MM.

Renal impairment is also noted in approximately 50% of MM patients. Glomerular deposits of amyloid (large amounts of the variable portion or the complete Ig light chain), hyperuricemia, recurrent infections, hypercalcemia and dehydration all may contribute to renal dysfunction [73].

The cause of symptomatic polyneuropathy, which is observed in 5-15% of MM patients, might be paraneural deposition of amyloid. About 80% of myeloma patients develop anemia, which is related to the inhibition of hematopoiesis by inflammatory cytokines as well as impaired endogenous erythropoietin (EPO) production [74].

## 2.5 Diagnostic criteria

Minimal criteria for the diagnosis of multiple myeloma include more than 10% plasma cells in BM, plus at least one of the following:

- > A monoclonal protein in the serum, IgG >35 g/L, IgA >20 g/L
- > A monoclonal protein in the urine, >1 g/24 hr
- Lytic bone lesions

Decrease of polyclonal immunoglobulins in serum (IgG <6 g/L, IgA <1 g/L, and IgM <0.5 g/L) is common [75].

A study at the Mayo Clinic on 1027 patients with newly diagnosed MM revealed a monoclonal protein in plasma with in 93% of patients. A monoclonal light chain was found in the urine of 78% of cases. Non-secretary myeloma was recognized in 3% and light chain myeloma (only Bence-Jones proteinuria) was present in 20% of patients [76].

Overt MM must be distinguished from MGUS and smoldering (asymptomatic) MM (SMM) [77]. MGUS is characterized by the absence of symptoms, an M-protein of < 30 g/L, < 10% of plasma cells in the BM and absence of lytic lesions, anemia, hypercalcemia, and renal insufficiency. SMM is characterized by an M-protein  $\geq$  30 g/L, or  $\geq$  10% plasma cells in BM. SMM and MGUS patients should not be treated, since they may remain stable for a prolonged period of time. Serum and urine M-protein should be measured periodically and clinical and other laboratory features should be examined [78]. MGUS progresses to MM at a rate of 1% per year [79].

## 2.6 Staging

Durie & Salmon staging system [80] was for a long time the most commonly used prognostic tool. Even though these criteria reflect the tumor burden, additional laboratory parameters, which may reflect also the biology of the disease, may be considered. Recently the new International Staging System (ISS) has given widespread use, with a three-stage system using serum  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin and albumin (Table 1) [55].

Stage	Criteria	Median Survival (months)
Ι	Serum $\beta_2$ -microglobulin <3.5 mg/L Serum albumin $\geq$ 3.5 g/dL	62
II II	Not stage I or III* Serum β₂-microglobulin ≥5.5 g/L	44 29

\*There are two categories for stage II: serum  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin <3.5 mg/L but serum albumin <3.5 g/dL; or serum  $\beta_2$ -microglobulin 3.5 to <5.5 mg/L irrespective of the serum albumin level [55].

### 2.7 **Prognostic factors**

In 1980s, serum  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2M) emerged as the single most powerful prognostic factor and was considered a simple reliable predictor of survival [81]. Other prognostic factors, include serum level of C-reactive protein, serum albumin, and the plasma cell labeling index.

The recently introduced ISS, three-stage system based on serum  $\beta$ 2m and albumin (Table 1) provides a simple method both for staging and prognosis of MM [55]. Median survival for stage I is 62 months; stage II, 44 months; and stage III, 29 months. Patient numbers are distributed in the following way: stage I, 29%; stage II, 37%; and stage III, 34%) [55].

Chromosomal abnormalities have also prognostic values. Del 13 is the most common and is associated with poor prognosis [82, 83]. Both 1q21 gain and increase gene expression level were found significantly associated with reduced survival of MM [84]. A study that used interphase FISH revealed that patients with t(4;14) (13% of patients) had a poor overall survival (23% at 80 months) [66]. In contrast, patients with t(11;14) (16% of patients) had a good prognosis (88% at 80 months).

Standal et al [85] have shown that serum insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) is a strong indicator of prognosis. Also a low expression of p27KIP1 (CDKN1B) has been reported as an adverse prognostic factor [86].

It has recently been reported that increased serum proteasome concentration correlates with advanced disease and is a statistically significant independent prognostic factor in MM [87]. Serum proteasome concentrations were found significantly increased in MM compared to healthy donors (P < 0.001), in MM compared to MGUS (P = 0.03) and in active (n=101) compared to smoldering (n=40) MM (P < 0.001). Thus proteasome concentration correlate with advanced disease and is an independent prognostic factor in MM [87].

### 2.8 Treatment of MM

There is no evidence that early treatment of non-symptomatic MM is advantageous. Younger patients with symptomic MM should be considered possible candidates for autologous stem cell transplantation. If they are deemed to be eligible, they should be treated for 3 to 4 months with therapy that does not damage the hematopoietic stem cells [88].

High-dose therapy (HDT) with stem-cell support increases the rate of complete response and extends event-free and overall survival [89, 90]. However, this approach is generally suitable for patients younger than 65 years, who represent only about a third of all myeloma patients. For patients older than 65 years, conventional chemotherapy with oral melphalan and prednisone has remained the treatment of choice since 1960 [91], a situation which now finally seems to change (see below).

As induction treatment for patients planned for HDT with autologous stem cell transplantation (ASCT), cyclophosphamide in combination with steroids is commonly used in Sweden. However, at some centers thalidomide plus steroids are used for induction therapy [88]. ASCT prolongs disease-free survival and overall survival. Melphalan, 200 mg/m<sup>2</sup>, is the most widely used conditioning regimen [88]. Although allogeneic stem cell transplantation is attractive, the mortality rate (about 20%) is too high to recommend as standard therapy [88]. Patients with relapsed or refractory disease may be treated with dexamethasone in combination with thalidomide, bortezomib, or with lenalidomide.

The response rate of relapsed myeloma to thalidomide alone is around 30%. When thalidomide is used in combination with corticosteroids, the response rate increases to about 50% [92], and around 70% when used in combination with alkylating agents [93, 94]. Recently a randomized controlled clinical study showed that oral melphalan and prednisone plus thalidomide is an effective (prolonged survival) first-line treatment for elderly patients with multiple myeloma which should be considered for this patient group, despite that more side effects, such as somnolence, peripheral neuropathy, and venous thromboembolic complications, can occur [91].

Bortezomib inhibits proliferation and induces apoptosis of human myeloma cells *in vitro*. It also inhibits NF $\kappa$ B activation, overcomes drug resistance and adds to the antimyeloma-activity of dexamethasone, melphalan and doxorubicin *in vitro* [48]. In the large APEX trial, bortezomib was shown to be more effective than dexamethasone as far as response, time to progression and overall survival are concerned [95]. Whether bortezomib is better than thalidomide is still not known; it appears to have a better side effect profile but is also considerably more expensive.

Lenalidomide is an analogue of thalidomide, which has similar mechanisms of action but with greater potency. Lenalidomide is up to 2000 times more potent in

stimulating T-cell proliferation and production of IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-2. It also activates FAS-mediated apoptosis and reduces release of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  [96]. One promising benefit of this agent is its more favorable side-effect profile compared with thalidomide [96].

Bisphosphonates should be given to all patients with symptomatic myeloma to prevent skeletal complications. This can be given either as monthly intravenous infusion (preferentially pamidronate to reduce risk of jaw osteonecrosis) or oral clodronate [97-99].

## 2.9 Bone marrow microenvironment

The survival, growth and differentiation of normal plasma cells and myeloma cells are dependent on the BM microenvironment. Various cytokines, soluble factors, receptors and adhesion molecules mediate reciprocal positive and negative interaction between myeloma cells and BM stromal cells.

#### 2.9.1 Osteoclasts

There is a complicated interaction between soluble factors produced by both MM cells and stromal cells, which shifts the balance towards bone destruction without new bone formation. Factors produced by myeloma cells are involved in both bone destruction and impaired new bone formation. The factors produced by myeloma cells *in vivo* that can raise osteoclast activity include receptor activator of NF $\kappa$ B ligand (RANKL), macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)-1 $\alpha$ , IL-3 and IL-6 [100-102].

RANKL is a major factor involved in myeloma bone disease. When MM cells bind to stromal cells RANKL expression is increased, which results in enhanced osteoclast activity through binding of RANKL to its receptor, located on osteoclast precursor cells, promoting differentiation [103]. RANKL further plays a role in the inhibition of osteoclast apoptosis [104]. T lymphocytes also express RANKL within the MM marrow microenvironment. The proposed mechanism is through the release of a soluble factor by MM cells, which increases RANKL expression on the T lymphocytes and ultimately results in enhanced osteolytic bone destruction [105].

A soluble decoy for RANKL, known as osteoprotegerin (OPG), is produced by bone marrow stromal cells and inhibits the actions of RANKL in osteoclast activation. The proportion of RANKL to OPG determines the osteoclast activity. Some studies suggest that imbalance between RANKL expression and OPG levels favors osteoclastogenesis and osteoclast activation in MM [101, 106]. The chemokine MIP-1 $\alpha$ , an important factor in osteoclastogenesis, is present in marrow samples from MM patients with active disease [100, 107, 108]. MIP-1 $\alpha$  seems to enhance the growth of myeloma cells and may be associated with a poor prognosis [109].

IL-3 is also significantly elevated in marrow plasma from patients with MM as compared with normal controls [110]. Serum from MM patients with elevated IL-3 stimulates the growth of IL-3-dependent MM cell lines [111]. IL-3 induces osteoclast formation in human marrow cultures and probably in MM patients [110]. IL-3 also enhances the effects of RANKL and MIP-1 $\alpha$  on the growth and development of osteoclasts, and directly stimulates MM cell growth [110]. Overall, IL-3 increases the number and activity of osteoclasts, leading to further bone destruction, and appears to be an osteoclast stimulatory factor in myeloma.

The role that IL-6 plays in MM is controversial. Most studies support the idea that cells such as osteoblasts, osteoclasts and stromal cells in the bone marrow microenvironment through contact with myeloma cells produce IL-6. IL-6 enhances the growth of myeloma cells and inhibits myeloma cell apoptosis [112, 113].

Multiple studies have reported that a proliferation inducing ligand (APRIL) and B cell-activating factor of the tumor necrosis factor family (BAFF) levels are elevated in the sera of patients with MM and both autocrine and paracrine APRIL and BAFF production exists in the MM [114, 115]. BAFF and APRIL can protect myeloma cells from apoptosis induced by IL-6 deprivation and/or dexamethasone [114].

#### 2.9.2 Osteoblasts

Factors that are responsible for decreased osteoblast activity in MM include IL-3, dickkopf 1 (DKK1), secreted frizzled-related protein-2 (sFRP-2) and IL-7 [116-119]. Several of these affect the Wnt signaling pathway that is critical for osteoblast differentiation [120].

#### 2.9.3 Other soluble factors

Other cytokines that affect the growth of MM cells, osteoclast or osteoblast activity have been identified in the marrow plasma of MM patients. These include hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), IL-1 and TNF- $\alpha$  [121]. HGF can exert proliferative and antiapoptotic effects on MM cells and has been associated with osteoclast activation. Serum levels of HGF have been correlated with TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6, levels both potent stimulators of osteoclast activity. HGF can induce IL-11, a stimulator of osteoclastogenesis, from osteoblasts [122, 123]. TNF- $\alpha$  has also been implicated in MM, although its role is yet unclear. Elevated serum levels of TNF- $\alpha$  have been detected in MM patients with advanced bone lesions when compared with those without significant bone disease or those with MGUS [124].

Both MM cells and BM stromal cells can secrete VEGF. VEGF stimulates BM angiogenesis and increases release of itself and IL-6 [125] which mediates myeloma cell growth and migration [126]. Osteoclasts produce IGF-1 which may cause proliferation and inhibition of apoptosis of MM cells [127]. Transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) secreted by MM cells cause paracrine IL-6 secretion in BM stromal cells [128].

## 2.10 T cells in MM

There are some reports about finding of unusually large "expanded" CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell clones in the blood of patients with MM and SMM [129-131]. These clones have been shown to persist over long periods, suggesting that they might be the result of chronic antigenic stimulation [130]. Monoclonality of CD57<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>-expanded T-cells in MM patients has also been reported [131]. Transient antigenic stimulation is known to be associated with short-lived expansion of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell clones [132]. Importantly, presence of chronically expanded T cell clones correlated with a better overall survival [133]. The expanded CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell populations express high levels of CD57 [134-136]. Furthermore, most of the expanded T cells express low level of CD28, consistent with a history of prolonged stimulation and proliferation [137]. S-phase analysis has demonstrated that CD57<sup>+</sup> clonal T cells in MM patients have a low rate of turnover [131]. They also express lower levels of the apoptotic receptor CD95 (Fas) than their CD57<sup>-</sup> counterparts, providing a tentative explanation for the accumulation of clonally expanded CD8<sup>+</sup>CD57<sup>+</sup> T cells [131].

Efforts to define the specificity of naturally arising expanded T cell clones in MM have not yet yielded clear answers. It has been suggested that the clones may be reacting to a persistent viral infection in a compromised host or to the tumor itself [138].

Significantly increased BM infiltration by T cells was found in MM patients [139]. T cell subsets were CD4<sup>+</sup> CD8<sup>-</sup>, CD4<sup>-</sup>CD8<sup>-</sup>, CD4<sup>+</sup> CD28<sup>-</sup>, and CD8<sup>+</sup> CD28<sup>-</sup> [139]. The increase of frequency of T cells secreting IFN- $\gamma$  as well as a higher plasma concentration of IFN- $\gamma$  was also found in the patients. Positive correlation between the proportion of CD28<sup>-</sup> and both the frequency of the IFN- $\gamma$ -secreting T cells and the proportion of expanded TCR-V $\beta$  lymphocytes within the total BM CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, was noticed [139].

CD8 T cells specific for cancer germline gene antigens was found in many patients with MM, and their frequency were found to be correlated with disease burden [140]. As mentioned above, T lymphocytes express RANKL within the MM marrow microenvironment, through which they may possibly contribute to disease pathogenesis.

The current view of the immunobiology of B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) has changed considerably in recent years. Previously, it was believed that the B-CLL cells were functionally immature [141], minimally self-renewing and with defective apoptotic mechanisms [142-144]. B-CLL is now viewed as a malignant disease of Ag-experienced mature B lymphocytes that have functional competency and escape death due to interactions with factors produced by other cells, including T cells [142-144].

## 3.1 Epidemiology

B-CLL represents 22-30% of all leukemia cases with a worldwide incidence projected to be between <1 and 5.5 per 100,000 people [145]. There is an average annual incidence of about 5/100,000 in Sweden (400-500 cases/year [146]). As shown in Figure 4, the incidence of CLL increases dramatically with age. In 2003 in the US, persons over the age of 65 had an incidence of 21.0 per 100,000, while those under the age of 65 had an incidence of 1.2 per 100,000 [147]. Because many B-CLL patients are asymptomatic, the true incidence is unknown. B-CLL presents in adults, at higher rates in males than in females and in whites than in blacks. Median age at diagnosis is 64-70 years [145]. The mortality rate for CLL in the US in 2003 was 1.5 deaths per 100,000. Males (2.2 per 100,000) had a higher mortality rate than females (1.04 per 100,000) in 2003 [148]. Persons with close relatives who have CLL are at an increased risk.

Active rheumatoid arthritis [149] and Sjögren's syndrome [150, 151] give a higher risk of developing CLL. Researchers have attempted to correlate environmental risk factors with the incidence of B-CLL, but the evidence has not been strong for any single factor yet. Exposure to pesticides, ionizing radiation, carcinogens, diets, alkylating agents, hepatitis C, and Epstein-Barr virus have been suspected, but not consistently associated with B-CLL [145]. Living in a farming community and the exposure to electromagnetic radiation has also been associated with B-CLL, but the evidence is not strong [145].



Figure 4. Age-specific incidence of chronic lymphocytic leukemia (1996–2000) [145].

## 3.2 Etiology

The cause of CLL is not yet known. Some studies of large series of CLL patients demonstrated that in CLL cells of about half of the cases the  $IgV_H$  genes have undergone somatic mutations [152, 153] and the unmutated cases were correlated to a worse clinical outcome [154, 155]. The presence of somatic mutations suggests that, at least in the mutated patients, CLL clonal founder cells had encountered an Ag and that the procedure triggered by this encounter had likely occurred in a germinal center (GC) site [143, 156]. However, based on other evidences the unmutated cases could not be considered naive B-cell driven and are similar to mutated ones, except for  $IgV_{H}$ . Although slightly different, both subsets of CLL cells show a remarkable skewing in  $IgV_H$  genes usage such as the overexpression of  $IgV_H$  1-69 and  $IgV_H$  3-21[152, 153, 155]. This bias appears to be disease related, therefore suggesting a role for specific Ag or Ag-like elements in the genesis of this subset of CLL [143]. In addition, both CLL subsets have surface phenotype of activated B cells similar to the phenotype of Ag-experienced cells (CD23, CD25, CD69, and CD79) [157]. The characteristics of CLL cells' BCR look like those observed in normal B cells upon Ag interaction [158, 159]. Finally, gene expression profiling revealed that both mutated and unmutated subsets share similarities with memory B cells [160, 161]. From all of these evidences this impression has arisen that in CLL, regardless of the  $IgV_H$  genes mutational status, the cell of origin appears to be an "Ag-experienced" B cell [143]. It

has been suggested that the expression of the naive marker CD5 is perhaps related to activation events rather than the cellular origin [160].

Data of the complementary determining regions 3 (CDR3) sequences of the BCRs of the CLL cells are in line with the involvement of Ag or Ag-like element in the etiology of CLL. Several studies showed that unrelated patients in different parts of the world express very similar, if not identical, BCR [162-166]. Although the chances that the process of VDJ recombination may result in two almost identical sequences are few in a million, such similarities can be found in more than 10% of CLL patients [142]. These data plus the fact that both CLL subsets exhibit similar VDJ rearrangements, suggest involvement of an antigenic element able to bind to a particular Ag-pocket might be responsible for the selection and/or progression of the leukemic clone [142, 143, 167].

CLLU1 gene has been recently reported as disease-specific gene since its restricted expression pattern in unmutated CLL cells that is irrespective of trisomy 12 or large chromosomal rearrangements [168]. However, whether the CLLU1 is involved in the etiology of CLL is not clear yet.

It has also been reported that the T cell leukemia-1 (TCL-1) gene, which is involved in the pathogenesis of T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia [169], is expressed in CLL [170]. Overexpression of *Tcl-1* in B cells in mice leads to a leukemia or lymphoma of CD5<sup>+</sup> B cells that is suggestive for causing CLL [171]. However, abnormalities of *TCL-1* or its regulation have not been reported in patients with CLL yet.

Two different studies showed that CLL is characterized by genome-wide hypomethylation [172, 173]. Considering the fact that genome-wide hypomethylation results in chromosomal instability [174], it is possible that this feature is responsible for genetic aberrations observed in CLL cells (see below). It was also found that the overexpression of the Bcl-2, Mdr1, and Tcl1 genes could be due to promoter hypomethylation [175-177]. These results indicate that genome-wide and gene-specific DNA hypomethylation might have a role in the etiology of CLL diseases.

## **3.3** Clinical manifestations

CLL may have a wide range of symptoms with physical and laboratorial abnormalities at the time of its diagnosis or later. Common findings in patients requiring treatment include lymphadenopathy (87%), splenomegaly (54%), hepatomegaly (14%), total white blood cell count >100,000/ $\mu$ L (30%), hemoglobin concentration <11.0 g/dL (31%), and platelet count <100,000/ $\mu$ L (16%) [178]. Most patients are however diagnosed at routine health care visits without symptoms because of finding an elevated lymphocyte count.

Symptoms requiring initiation of therapy include weight loss ( $\geq 10\%$  of the body weight within the previous six months), fever without the evidence of infection, night sweats, and fatigue (cannot work or unable to perform usual activities) [179, 180].

The presenting features may also relate to infections, autoimmune complications such as hemolytic anemia, or thrombocytopenia [179, 181].

## 3.4 Diagnostic criteria

In the World Health Organization (WHO) classification CLL is a disease of neoplastic B cells, whereas the entity previously called T-CLL is now uniformly included in the T-PLL (T-cell prolymphocytic leukemia) diagnosis [182].

It is important to distinguish CLL from other leukemic lymphoproliferative disease e.g., mantle cell lymphoma, splenic lymphoma with villous lymphocytes, marginal zone lymphoma, or hairy cell leukemia. Therefore a minimum of 2 examinations is required to diagnose CLL:

1) Evaluation of blood lymphocyte count

2) Immune phenotype of the leukemia cells in the blood [183].

A minimal panel of cell surface markers to distinguish CLL from other entities includes CD5, CD19, CD20, CD23, and surface Ig. Another characteristic of CLL is that the levels of CD20 and CD79b typically are lower than that of normal B cells. At least 5000 lymphocytes/ $\mu$ L is required for CLL for diagnosis [183].

Histological examination of the BM can assess the extent and pattern (diffuse, non-diffuse) of the BM infiltration by CLL but is not necessary for the diagnosis [179]. A marrow biopsy and flow cytometry is also indicated whether there is complete regression in the BM following treatment.

## 3.5 Staging

There are two traditional rather old clinical staging systems for B-CLL that is still in practice: the Rai system (1975) [184] and the Binet system (1981) [185]. These two classification systems are outlined in Table 2 and Table 3. Although the Rai and Binet systems by themselves are prognostic and help to guide treatment, there are other factors that recently have been shown to be superior predictive of disease prognosis (see below).
Risk level	Stage	Clinical features at diagnosis	Median survival time	% of patients
low	0	Blood and marrow lymphocytosis	≥10 years	30
intermediate	Ι	Lymphocytosis and lymphadenopathy	9 years	35
	II	Lymphocytosis and splenomegaly or hepatomegaly	7 years	25
high	III	Lymphocytosis and anemia (hemoglobin <11 g/dl)	5 years	7
	IV	Lymphocytosis and thrombocytopenia (platelets <100000/ml)	5 years	3

# Table 2. Rai classification system for B-CLL [184].

# **Table 3.** Binet classification system for B-CLL [185].

Stage	Clinical features at diagnosis	Median survival time	% of patients
А	Blood and marrow lymphocytosis and less than three areas of palpable lymphoid involvement	>7–10 years	65
В	Same with three or more areas of palpable lymphoid involvement	5–7 years	30
С	Same plus anemia or thrombocytopenia	<2–5 years	5

Lymph areas include cervical, axillary, inguiofemoral, liver, and spleen.

## **3.6 Prognostic factors**

#### **3.6.1** Conventional prognostic factors

Clinical stage is still the most commonly used predictor of survival in CLL, but are not sufficient to estimate the prognosis reliably for patients with early-stage disease (e.g., Binet stage A, Rai stages 0-II) [183]. Therefore, additional parameters have been required to more accurately evaluate the prognosis of patients with CLL. Among the clinical variables, age, gender and performance status are of importance as well as laboratory parameters reflecting the tumor burden or disease activity, such as serum  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin, serum lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), bone marrow infiltration pattern, and lymphocyte doubling time (LDT) [186].

The chromosomal aberrations in 11q or 17p,  $IgV_H$  mutation, and ZAP-70 expression have proven prognostic value independent of the clinical stage in several studies. Nonetheless, none of these parameters alone is useful to decide when to initiate therapy in patients with CLL.

#### 3.6.2 IgV<sub>H</sub> mutation status

For a long time CLL B cells was considered to be driven from naive B-cells, however data from new studies over the past recent years revealed that CLL composed of about two equally numbered subsets, half with unmutated  $IgV_H$  genes, and half with mutated ones [154, 155]. Mutational status was reported to be strongly correlated with prognosis of the CLL, so that  $IgV_H$ -mutated CLL patients survive about twice as long as  $IgV_H$ -unmutated ones [154, 155]. The  $IgV_H$  usage status represents the strongest prognostic predictor in CLL [187, 188].

## **3.6.3** ζ-associated protein 70 (ZAP-70)

The cDNA microarray analysis on CLL B cells by Rosenwald et al [161] showed there are some differences between gene expressions of the  $IgV_H$  mutated and unmutated groups of which ZAP-70 was the best identifier by overexpression in unmutated patients. Therefore it was suggested as a surrogate marker for distinguishing mutated from unmutated patients.

ZAP-70 is part of signal transduction system in T cells that upon TCR activation participate in transmitting the signal downstream to nucleus. It dose not usually expressed in normal peripheral B cells and its role in CLL cells is not clear although it was experimentally shown that it can enhance the effectiveness of IgM signaling [189] and produce an advantageous migratory and tumor cell survival response [190], thus contributing to aggressive clinical behavior [191].

Flow cytometry based assay for ZAP-70 has not achieved a satisfying correlation with IgV<sub>H</sub> mutation status [192-194]. However, ZAP-70 positive, IgV<sub>H</sub> mutated patients had a worse survival than those who where ZAP-70 negative, IgV<sub>H</sub> unmutated [195]. In a recent study on 156 CLL patients, immunohistochemistry detected ZAP-70 expression showed significant correlation with advanced Binet stage (B-C), diffuse BM infiltration, increased LDH, serum  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin levels and LDT <12 months [191]. In addition, immunohistological detection of ZAP-70 on BM biopsies at diagnosis appears a useful methodological approach to identify patients with poor prognosis in CLL [191]. The importance of ZAP-70 expression as a prognostic factor is still under study. Standardized validated techniques for flow cytometry based ZAP-70 evaluation must be awaited until introduced in the routine health care system.

#### 3.6.4 Chromosomal aberrations

Several chromosomal aberrations have been associated with CLL. In about 80% of CLL cases recurrent cytogenetic abnormalities has been shown [196]. Aberrations in CLL include del 13q14, trisomy 12, del 11q23, and del 17q13 [187, 197] among which del 11q23 and 17q13 showed prognostic values [183]. Aberrations in 17p and 11q occur almost exclusively in the  $IgV_H$  unmutated subgroup and considered as high-risk genomic aberrations [187].

Del 11q23 is classically associated with younger patients with bulky lymphadenopathy and in many series a poor prognosis [187, 197] but this dose not fit with the all reported studies [196].

Del 17p13, which is associated with p53, is the subgroup that has the shortest average survival of 3 years [187]. It has been suggested that at least 20% of cells have to be affected to cause such a poor prognosis [196].

In the study by Krober et al, 17p deletion, 11q deletion, and unmutated  $IgV_H$  status found to have the strongest adverse prognostic factors, suggesting that the clinical heterogeneity of CLL might have a biologic basis and genomic aberrations and  $IgV_H$  mutation status might have a complementary role in estimating the prognosis of CLL [187].

#### 3.6.5 CD38 expression

Although CD38 expression claimed as a clear adverse prognostic factor in CLL, it gives discordant results in  $IgV_H$ -mutation in about 30% of patients [196]. Its expression changes in about 25% of patients during the course of the disease [196]. Overall, CD38 dose not seem to be a good indicator for prognosis of CLL. Interestingly it has been shown that CD38-expression levels in T in B-CLL patients is

a valuable and independent prognostic factor in male patients, although the mechanisms of the sex-specific role of CD38 T cells in B-CLL is not clear [198].

## **3.7** Treatment of CLL

Treatment for patients with CLL has been improved over the past several years, owing to advances in understanding the biology of the disease. So far no treatment regimen has been shown to be curative in patients with CLL.

## 3.7.1 Which patient needs therapy?

Because no therapy against CLL has been shown to be curative and toxicities associated with the therapeutic regimens are inevitable, the decision to initiate therapy is an important consideration in the clinical management of CLL. It has been demonstrated that immediate therapy with chlorambucil did not prolong survival in patients with early-stage disease [199, 200]. In addition, about one third of patients with early-stage disease do not progress during long-term follow-up and may never need treatment.

The NCI Working Group has provided guidelines for when initiate therapy based on demonstration of active symptomatic and progressive disease [180]. Patients with advanced stage disease usually require treatment already at diagnosis.

#### 3.7.2 Single-agent therapies

The most commonly used single agent for CLL treatment was the alkylating agent chlorambucil. With such therapy, the complete remission (CR) rate is however not more than 10%, and the overall response (OR) rate is approximately 50% to 60%, with median survival of 48 to 60 months.

Fludarabine has been the most extensively used purine analogue for the treatment of patients with CLL. The large US Intergroup trial randomized patients among fludarabine, chlorambucil, or the two agents combined [201]. The CR rate for patients in the fludarabine arm was 20% versus 4% in the chlorambucil arm (p=0.001). In addition, the OR rates were 63% and 37% for the fludarabine and chlorambucil arms, respectively. Although no survival advantage was confirmed for fludarabine, it may be the most effective single agent in the treatment of patients with CLL [202].

The purine analogue cladribine (2-CdA) and pentostatin (2-deoxycoformyin) also have activity as single agents in treating patients with CLL [203, 204].

In a recent publication of a phase II study, it was demonstrated for the first time that single agent lenalidomide is clinically active in CLL. Lenalidomide is an immunomodulating drug with antitumor activity. 47% of patients with relapsing or refractory CLL attain a PR or CR to lenalidomide. Antileukemic effects were noted 7 days after the therapy, with incremental responses with extended therapy [205]. Lenalidomide also has T-cell stimulatory effect [96].

Monoclonal antibodies (mAb) are emerging as attractive agents in the treatment of B-CLL [206]. Alemtuzumab is a humanized anti-CD52 mAb that is approved for use in fludarabine-refractory B-CLL [207, 208]. Normal as well as malignant lymphocytes contain about 400,000 CD52 molecules per cell which is considered as high-density expression [209]. In humans CD52 is present on >95% of all lymphocytes, particularly on malignant B- and T-cells in virtually all lymphoid malignancies and on monocytes and macrophage [210]. The precise biological function of the CD52 antigen is unknown. The main side effect when using alemtuzumab is depletion of normal lymphocytes and thereby an increased risk of infections. Due to the expression of CD52 on normal lymphoid cells, long-lasting lymphocytopenia occurs in all patients [207, 211]. The most profound effects are on CD4 T cells, which reach their depths value after about four weeks of therapy, and thereafter show a slow but steady improvement [207, 211]. The rise in CD4 T cells after alemtuzumab therapy may partly be explained by expansion of a small population of pre-existing CD52 negative T cells [211-214]. The function(s) and specificity of these cells are yet unknown. Moreover, following treatment with the alemtuzumab the T-cell repertoire may be severely skewed [213, 215]. Furthermore, a reduced functional competence of T cells has been reported in rheumatoid arthritis patients after alemtuzumab therapy [216].

Not only alemtuzumab but also fludarabine therapy may lead to a decrease of T-cells, including CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes [217, 218]. This cellular immunodeficiency may contribute to an increased risk of opportunistic infections [219, 220]. Fludarabine may also induce dysfunction of T cells [219, 221].

Rituximab is a mAb against CD20 that exist on the surface of malignant B cells, as well as normal B and T cells [202]. The CR and OR rates when used as a single agent at standard doses, and the estimated median progression-free survival were low. The usefulness of maintenance of rituximab in patients with CLL is questionable and not currently supported [202].

#### 3.7.3 Combination therapies

There is both laboratory and clinical evidence for synergy between alkylating agents and fludarabine. Fludarabine inhibits excision repair of DNA interstrand cross-links induced by cyclophosphamide, thereby supporting activity of this agent [222]. The combination of fludarabine and cyclophosphamide (FC) was evaluated in phase III clinical trials versus fludarabine alone and enhanced efficacy in terms of CR rate and time to progressive was seen [223].

Rituximab supports activity of purine analogue-based therapies and has been incorporated a combination regimens. Rituximab sensitizes leukemia cells to fludarabine-induced apoptosis by downmodulating bcl-2 [224]. In addition, fludarabine downmodulates expression of complement-resistance proteins, CD46, CD55, and CD59, on malignant B cells, sensitizes them to rituximab-induced compliment-dependent cytotoxicity [225]. The combination of fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab (FCR) has been evaluated in both chemotherapy naive and previously treated patients with CLL [226, 227]. In 224 previously untreated patients with CLL, the CR rate with FCR was 70% and the OR rate was 95%, with most patients having no detectable disease by FACS evaluation of the bone marrow at the end of therapy [226]. More than 40% of complete responders were free of disease in the bone marrow by PCR evaluating. The projected failurefree survival at 4 years was 69%. The efficacy and safety of administration of fludarabine and alemtuzumab combination (FluCam) on 36 patients with relapsed or refractory B-CLL has been evaluated in a phase II trial study by Elter et al [228]. This study showed the FluCam is effective in this group of heavily pretreated/refractory B-CLL patients, with an OR rate of 83% (CR rate, 30%) and a median OS of 35.6 months for all patients [228]. In addition this regimen was shown to be well tolerated and feasible [228].

Regimens combining chemotherapeutic agents with mAb have approached higher CR rates. Ongoing investigations continue to develop more effective regimens as well as new agents with different mechanisms of actions/targeting.

#### 3.7.4 Stem cell transplantation

Autologous (ASCT) and allogeneic stem cell transplantation (allo-SCT) is considered as another treatment options for patients with B- CLL. Results of ASCT in CLL are conflicting and the place for this procedure in CLL remains under debate. Initial results of conventional allogeneic transplantation (allo-SCT) showed an unacceptably high mortality, but did show that cure was possible in some patients [229]. A proposal for choosing patients who are preferred for allo-SCT was recently released by an international expert panel [230]. Key elements of the consensus are:

- 1) allo-SCT is a procedure with evidence-based efficacy in poor-risk CLL;
- 2) allo-SCT is a reasonable treatment option for younger patients with (i) non-response or early relapse (within 12 months) after purine analogues, (ii) relapse within 24 months after having achieved a response with purine-analogue-based

combination therapy or autologous transplantation, and (iii) patients with p53 abnormalities who requiring treatment;

 optimum transplant strategies may vary according to distinct clinical situations and should be defined in prospective trials [230].

## **3.8** Microenvironmental support to CLL clone

Signals that are delivered by direct cell contact or soluble factors, which may or may not occur concurrently with BCR engagement, may interfere with the growth of CLL cells. There are many studies on impact of other cells or immunological microenvironment on the CLL diseases. Despite the apparent long life *in vivo*, CLL cells usually undergo spontaneous apoptosis under conditions that support the growth of human B-cell lines *in vitro* [231-233]. This suggests that such *ex vivo* conditions require essential survival factors and that the resistance to apoptosis is not intrinsic to the CLL cells [231-233].

T lymphocytes as well as a variety of stromal cells, appear to have a central role in amplifying a microenvironment able to favor the proliferation and to inhibit the apoptosis of malignant cells [234-237]. It was shown that CLL cells from lymph node and bone marrow, but not peripheral blood, constitutively secret T cell attracting chemokine, CCL22, which attract the CD4<sup>+</sup>CD40L<sup>+</sup> subpopulation of blood T cells expressing its receptor, CCR4. Following migration, T cells with their CD40L bind to CD40 on the CLL cells that in turn induces proliferation and a strong cytokine/chemokine production by the leukemic clone, including CCL22, which may lead to progressive accumulation of neoplastic cells [235].

Nurselike cells (NLCs) that differentiate from CD14<sup>+</sup> cells of blood mononuclear cells of CLL patients can protect CLL cells from apoptosis. NLCs express cytoplasmic vimentin, stromalderived factor 1 (SDF-1), very high levels of B cell-activating factor of the tumor necrosis factor family (BAFF) and a proliferation inducing ligand (APRIL) [237, 238]. CD14<sup>+</sup> cells from peripheral blood of healthy donors could differentiate into NLCs when co-cultured in contact with CLL B cells, directly [237] or indirectly [239], but not with normal B cells. So apparently CLL B cells alone could drive CD14<sup>+</sup> cells into NLC [239]. A clear link between APRIL signaling and B-cell malignancies came from the observation that mice transgenic for APRIL develop B1 cell associated neoplasm [240]. Multiple studies have reported that APRIL and BAFF levels are elevated in the sera of patients with CLL and both autocrine and paracrine APRIL and BAFF signaling exists in the CLL [240-242].

The effect(s) of BAFF or APRIL on leukemia cell survival appeared additive and distinct from that of SDF-1, which in contrast to BAFF or APRIL induced leukemia cell phosphorylation of p44/42 mitogen-activated protein kinase and AKT [237, 238].

Conversely BAFF and APRIL, but not SDF-1, induced CLL-cell activation of the NFκB and enhanced CLL-cell expression of the antiapoptotic protein Mcl-1 [237, 238]. Apparently BAFF and APRIL from NLCs can function in a paracrine manner to support leukemia cell survival and the distinct mechanisms of BAFF/APRIL from that of SDF-1 indicates that NLCs use multiple distinct non-overlapping survival pathways to support CLL cell survival [237, 238]. In addition, NLCs by providing CD31 to CLL cells support their survival [243]. Binding of CD38 on the CLL cell surface to its ligand CD31 triggers an extensive remodeling of the B-CLL membrane, with relocalization of BCR/CD19 to the CD38/CD31 contact areas, that increases cell survival and proliferation [243].

There is a short report of coexpression of CD38 and CD31 by CLL cells [244]. Therefore the autocrine or B-cell-to-B-cell activation by these two surface molecules can be speculated. CLL B-cells produce and express both ligands and receptors for many prosurvival cytokines, such as IL-2, IL-4, IL-8, TNF- $\alpha$ , INF- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\gamma$  as well as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), thereby presumably acquiring autocrine pathways that modulate survival [245, 246].

Follicular dendritic cells (FDCs) are closely associated with CLL cells in the early phase of BM involvement as well as in the lymph nodes [247] and they have been concerned in providing signals that stimulate B-cell lymphoma proliferation and survival [248-250]. *In vitro* culture of CLL B-cells with FDCs rescues CLL cells from spontaneous apoptosis [247, 250]. In a model system, where an immortalized FDC line was employed, prolonged CLL cell survival was found to be mediated by direct cell contact dependent on CD44-ligation, and associated with up-regulation of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family protein Mcl-1 [250].

Environmental antigens or autoantigens could cause/support clonal expansion of CLL cells [142]. CLL cells frequently exhibit polyreactive receptors, which bind multiple antigens, including autoantigens, [251-254] allowing stimulation by both autoantigens and microbial antigens [142]. This mechanism is plausible for unmutated CLL and also for a few cases of mutated CLL, since many unmutated and some mutated IgV<sub>H</sub> genes encode such polyreactive receptors [142].

It has been suggested that variations in the environment may be responsible for changes in the clinical course of the disease [142].

# **3.9** T cells in CLL

Elevated total numbers of circulating T cells have frequently been reported in B-CLL patients, which is mainly due to an increase of  $CD8^+$  T cells. Total number of  $CD4^+$  T cells is also increased. Compared to healthy donors, total T lymphocyte count,  $CD8^+$  cells and  $CD4^+$  T cells in CLL patients have been reported to be increased about 3

fold [255-258]. A reduced expression of the CD28 co-stimulatory surface molecule correlating with advancing disease stage was noted on both CD4 and CD8 T cells [259, 260]. The reduction in expression of CD28 was more obvious on CD8 compared to CD4 T cells. Surface-bound as well as cytoplasmic CTLA-4 molecules showed a reversed pattern compared to CD28 [261]. The expression level of CTLA-4 was found to be positively correlated to advancing stage of the disease [260]. Within the CD4 T cell population a subset expressing CD57 but not CD28 and containing perforin was detected, suggesting cytolytic potential activity [262].

Spontaneous production of IL-4 and IL-2 has been shown in CD4 T cells, while GM-CSF and TNF- $\alpha$  are produced by both CD4 and CD8 T cells [263]. T cells from patients with progressive disease were more prone to produce cytokines as compared to controls and patients with indolent disease. IL-6 is known to be released by T cells in indolent disease [264, 265]. The reason for the constant cytokine production by the T cells of CLL patients is unclear but these cytokines have been suggested to be growth factors for the leukemic cells [266-269]. CD4 and CD8 T cells of B-CLL patients with indolent disease exhibit a dominance of a type 1 (IFN- $\gamma$ ) over type 2 (IL-4) cytokine production following a short incubation *in vitro*. In contrast, T cells from progressive patients continued to be predominantly type 2 [270]. The impact of type 1 and 2 T cells on the regulation of cancer immunity is still unclear but a shift from a type 1 to a type 2 cytokine pattern has been described in various tumors both in animals and human [261].

The cause for the activation and expansion of various T cell populations in CLL is not clear. A subpopulation of the activated CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in B-CLL is known to express the CD40L (CD154). Ligation of the CD40 receptor on B-CLL cells to its ligand CD40L, induces the secretion of the chemoattractant cytokine CCL22 that in turn increases the migration capability of CD4<sup>+</sup>/CD40L<sup>+</sup> T cells expressing the receptor for CCL22, CCR4 [235]. The chemoattracted CD4/CD40L T cells may migrate towards CLL cells, bind to CD40 receptor on CLL cells and induce chemokine/cytokine production by the leukemic clone, which may lead to progressive accumulation of the neoplastic cells [235].

CD40 crosslinking might upregulate the expression of anti-apoptotic genes like surviving through which facilitates proliferation of CLL cells [271, 272], thereafter cause the upregulation of surface activation markers like CD80 and CD95 as well as induction of chemokine production such as CCL22 and CCL17 [273-275]. Nevertheless, not all CLL cells respond to *in vitro* CD40 stimulation, indicating the existence of two populations of CLL cells [235, 276]. Activated CD4 T cells secrete several growth factors, which might support the growth of the CLL clone including IL-2, IL-4, TNF- $\alpha$ , GM-CSF, and IL-6 which may also support the growth of normal B cells [263, 264]. In addition to CLL clone, the production of BAFF by different sources may also affect T cell numbers and functions. It is known that activated T cells express one of the receptors for BAFF, called transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI) [277]. *In vitro* studies have indicated that BAFF can stimulate T cell activation and proliferation [278]. BAFF-TACI interactions may thus be one of the possible pathways through which the T cells are activated and maintained in a state of chronic stimulation seen in B-CLL. In an attempt to experimentally verify the supportive role of T cell and stromal cells to CLL clone *in vitro*, short-term support to CLL clone was attributed to T cells while stromal cells showed long-term support [234].

T cell oligoclonal/polyclonal expansion in CLL was reported in several studies [279-281]. The reason for this has not yet been worked out however, it is most likely that polyclonal/oligoclonal expansion of T cells is induced by various factors/Ags released by the malignant cells and/or by surrounding non-tumor cells engaged in the disease process. Involvement of exogenous Ags might also be speculated. These factors also maintain the T cells in a state of chronic activation facilitating in turn the growth of B-CLL cells [248]. These activated T cells may continuously secrete cytokines, which may have an anti-apoptotic effect on the activated T cells and act in an autocrine or paracrine mode resulting in a polyclonal expansion [265, 282]. Clonal re-arrangement of the V $\beta$  chain of TCR was noted in three out of five patients with stage 0 disease, but not in eight patients with advanced disease [281]. This study indicated that the presence of clonal T cells might represent a host response directed against tumor-related Ags or reflects a specific T-cell-to-B-cell interaction [261]. In another study on the analyzing of the usage of 20 T-cell receptor- $\beta$  chain-variable (TCR-V $\beta$ ) subsets in B-CLL (n=10), a statistically significant overexpression of four TCR-V $\beta$  subsets within the CD4 T cell population was found, while only one such subset was detected within the CD8 population. However, an examination of individual patients for overexpression of a particular V $\beta$  family revealed that CD4 T cells of seven out of those ten patients and CD8 T cells of six out of those ten patients demonstrated skewing of the V $\beta$  repertoire [283]. Upon stimulation with autologous leukemic B cells the existence of specific TCR-V $\beta$  subset among the monoclonal/oligoclonal profile of T cells has been shown in vitro, therefore presence leukemia cell specific memory T cells in vivo in CLL patients has been suggested [279, 284].

# 4 **AIMS OF THE THESIS**

- To investigate the correlation between the expression of signal transduction molecules as well as cytokine production in CD4 and CD8 T cells from MM and B-CLL patients and their tumor burden.
- To evaluate long-term effects of fludarabine and alemtuzumab treatment on Tcell signaling molecule expression and cytokine production in B-CLL patients.
- To uncover the genes by means of which T cells might be involved in the regulation of the B-CLL clone.
- > To uncover the genes that may be responsible for expansion of T cells in CLL.

# **5 PATIENTS AND METHODS**

#### Patients

The patients included in paper I had either stage I MM (n=11) all of which were nonprogressive and in a stable phase (range 51-86 yr) or had stage III MM (n=11), all of which had symptomatic progressive disease requiring therapy (range 47-83 yr). Ten aged-matched healthy individuals were also included as controls. None of the patients had received prior chemotherapy before the experiment.

In the paper II, ten patients (mean age 68 yr; range 62–80 yr) with CLL in a progressive phase and 10 patients (mean age 69 yr; range 61–78 yr) with CLL in an indolent or plateau phase were included. Ten aged-matched healthy individuals were also included.

In paper III, nine patients who had been treated with fludarabine as most recent therapy were included as well as ten patients who had received alemtuzumab treatment. All patients were in long-lasting unmaintained partial remission and plateau phase following cessation of last therapy at the time of sampling. The median time from cessation of treatment to sampling was 24 months in the fludarabine group and 25 months in the alemtuzumab group. Ten patients with previously untreated indolent B-CLL and ten age-matched healthy control individuals were included as controls.

In paper IV, five B-CLL patient with indolent Rai stage 0-I disease and five patients with asymptomatic MM stage I were sampled for the microarray analysis. Five normal individuals were also included in the study as healthy control. Samples for subsequent experiments performed to confirm the results of the microarray were collected from 14 CLL patients, 6 MM patients, and 10 healthy donors.

The studies were approved by the institution's Ethics Committee and informed consent was obtained from each patient.

#### **T-cell purification**

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) were isolated from heparinized blood by separation on Ficoll/Isopaque gradient centrifugation. The B-CLL cells that formed the majority fraction of the PBMC were depleted by filtration through a nylon wool column (paper III and IV). Further enrichment of T cells (paper IV) was carried out by immunomagnetic depletion of B cells, NK cells, and monocytes using MidiMACS columns with anti-CD19, -CD56, and -CD14 MACS MicroBeads. For the MM patients and healthy donors, T-cells were purified using selection with immunomagnetic beads. The purity of T-cells was >95% as determined by flow cytometry using anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody.

For the QRT-PCR assay (paper IV), CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from healthy donors and MM patients were purified from PBMC by immunomagnetic selection using two runs of anti-CD4, -CD8 MACS MicroBeads, respectively. CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells from CLL patients were purified with the same strategy starting with enriched T-cells passed through nylon wool columns. The purity of immunomagnetically purified CD4 and CD8 T cells were >95% as determined by flow cytometry using anti-CD3, -CD4, -CD8, -CD19, -CD14, and -CD56 mAb. The contamination of monocytes, B cells, and NK cells was <1%.

#### Cellular staining and flow cytometry

Fluorescence-activated cell sorting (FACS) was performed to determine the purity of separated T cells (paper III and IV) and to characterize internal and surface markers (paper I-III). Surface markers were determined by staining with fluorochrome-conjugated mAbs. Appropriate concentration of antibodies were added to the cells in 100  $\mu$ L staining buffer (PBS, 1% FCS, 0.1% azide) and incubated for 30 min at 4 °C in dark. For intracellular markers (paper I, II, and III), the cells were first fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde on ice for 10 min in the dark, then permeabilized with 0.1% saponin in PBS and after washing, incubated with the appropriate antibodies for 30 min at room temperature in the dark. After washing the cells were used for surface staining. Analyses were done using a FACSCalibur flow cytometer and the CellQuest<sup>®</sup> software. A minimum of 30,000 lymphocyte-gated events, as determined by forward and side scatter, were acquired and analyzed on CD3<sup>+</sup>CD4<sup>+</sup>, CD3<sup>+</sup>CD8<sup>+</sup>, CD19<sup>+</sup>, CD14<sup>+</sup>, and CD56<sup>+</sup> cells. Criteria for positive staining were set at fluorescent intensities displayed by <1% of the cells stained with the appropriate fluorochrome-conjugated isotype control mAbs.

#### **Proliferation assay**

T cell proliferation (paper III) was measured by incorporation of  $[^{3}H]$ -thymidine. 2x10<sup>5</sup> T cells from patients and healthy controls were stimulated with 5 µg/ml phytohemagglutinin (PHA), or 2.5 µg/ml tuberculin purified protein derivative (PPD) in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 10% heat inactivated pooled human AB<sup>+</sup> serum, 100 IU/ml penicillin and 100 µg/ml streptomycin in 96well U-bottomed tissue culture plates and incubated in humidified CO<sub>2</sub> 5% at 37°C. After 126 hr of stimulation, 1 µCi [methyl-<sup>3</sup>H]-thymidine was added to each well followed by further incubation for 18 hr. Cells were then harvested and incorporated thymidine was measured in a beta scintillation counter.

#### **Isolation of total RNA**

Total RNA was extracted (paper IV) from freshly purified T cells using TRIzol reagent followed by further decontamination using the RNeasy mini kit to eliminate

the possible trace of genomic DNA contamination. The purity and quality of all extracted RNA samples were confirmed by measuring A260/A280 ratio and separation on agarose gel to ensure RNA integrity prior to microarray and QRT-PCR analyses.

#### Microarray experiments and data analysis

In paper IV, first and subsequently second strand cDNA was synthesized from 5 µg high quality purified total RNA using a T7-(dT)<sub>24</sub> primer and SuperScript Choice system kit. Biotin-labeled cRNA was then synthesized. After fragmenting, the labeled cRNA was hybridized to HG-U133 oligonucleotide array chips. The arrays were then washed and stained with Streptavidin-Phycoerythrin (SAPE) in an Affymetrix fluidics station. The arrays were then scanned in an Affymetrix scanner and the expression values for each probe set were estimated using the Affymetrix Microarray Suite Software (MAS v5.0). 3'/5' ratios for GAPDH and  $\beta$ -actin were confirmed to be within acceptable limits (<three-fold), and BioB spike controls were found to be present on all chips. In addition, the internal controls BioC, BioD and CreX were present in increasing intensity.

The signal values were then imported into the GeneSpring 7.0 software tool to find out genes with a significantly differential expression. In order to identify genes that show significant changes, genes were examined for significant up- or down-regulation of two fold and more. Filtering was done using the ANOVA p-value <0.05, indicating significant deviation from the control value or from ratio of 1.

Unsupervised hierarchical clustering analysis of the present probe sets was performed using GeneSpring 7.0 software with the minimum distance set to 0.001 and the separation ratio set to 0.95. Assessment of the overrepresentation of functional groups, according to Gene Ontology was carried out using the publicly available tool EASE (v2.0).

#### Quantitative real-time RT-PCR (QRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from purified T-cells of CLL patients, MM patients, and healthy donors. Random-hexamer primed 1<sup>st</sup> strand cDNA was then synthesized using SuperScript<sup>TM</sup> II Reverse Transcriptase. The QRT-PCR was performed using the  $iQ^{TM}$  SYBR Green Supermix with the iCycler  $iQ^{TM}$  Multi-Color detection system. All the QRT-PCR reactions were performed on 25 µL volume and duplicated.

Analysis of the sequences of interest was performed by comparative Ct method of relative quantification using  $\beta$ -actin as endogenous control and PBMC of a normal donor as calibrator.  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  gives the amount of target, normalized to the endogenous reference and relative to the calibrator.

#### Statistical analysis

The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test was used to analyze differences between independent groups and the non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test for dependent groups was used to calculate statistical significance of the QRT-PCR results. The p-values <0.05 were considered significant. The statistical analysis for the gene profiling analysis is described in the preceding section on microarray experiments and data analysis.

# 6 **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

## Paper I

#### **Signaling molecules and cytokine production in T cells of multiple myelomaincreased abnormalities with advancing stage.** (British Journal of Haematology 2004;124:315–324)

There have been some previous studies on aberrant T cell-functions and characteristics in patients with MM, such as abnormal expression of surface molecules and cytokine secretion profile [285-287]. T-cell immune dysfunction in patients with malignant tumors has been mainly attributed to the altered expression of components of the TCR/CD3 complex and their associated intracellular protein tyrosine kinases; the TCR signaling pathway. In this study, four-color flow cytometry was applied to study the surface bound molecules TCR $\alpha\beta$ , CD28, CD152 and CD154 involved in T-cell signaling and the signal transduction molecules CD3 $\zeta$ , Lck, Fyn, ZAP-70 and phosphatidyl-inositol-3 kinase (PI3-kinase) as well as the intracellular cytokines IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-4 and IL-2 as a functional read-out of non-stimulated and superantigen (staphylococcus enterotoxins B)-stimulated blood T cells of MM patients at different stages of the disease. Chemotherapy naïve MM patients with stage I [80] (n=11), and stage III (n=11) disease or age-matched healthy individuals (n=10) were included in the study.

The results of this study shows multiple abnormalities particularly in those patients with a high tumor burden (stage III), both in freshly isolated T cells and following *in vitro* activation. Most surface expressed structures and down-stream intracellular signal transduction molecules appeared to be significantly downregulated, a finding that was particularly pronounced in patients with advanced disease. Although T lymphocytes in patients with MM had a normal expression of the TCR $\alpha\beta$  heterodimer, i.e. the structure binding the antigenic peptide initiating 'signal 1' for T-cell activation, the co-stimulatory molecules mediating 'signal 2' (as CD28) were downregulated. This may hamper the interaction between CD28 on T cells and CD80/86 on normal as well as malignant B cells and DCs. Notably, surface markers such as CD152 and CD28 that 'down-tune' the immune response [288, 289], also appeared to be downregulated.

The signaling molecules CD3ζ-chain, Lck, Fyn and ZAP-70 were all generally downregulated and did not respond normally to an TCR activating signal. In addition, these abnormalities became more pronounced with advancing stage. Reduced levels of the protein kinases Lck and Fyn in T cells have been shown before in various malignancies [290-292].

The frequency of freshly isolated PBMC producing the IFN- $\gamma$  and the IL-4 was increased in stage I MM patients but these T cells did not respond normally to a TCR

stimulating signal. Whether this might represent a chronic *in vivo* activation, induced by malignant B cells, is currently not yet known. The major finding in this study is that the expression of most signaling molecules in both CD4 and CD8 T cells declined with advancing stage.

These data may be of particular importance in relation to immune-based emerging therapeutic principles such as vaccination, which may then be explored particularly in early stage MM i.e. before T cell functions become severely impaired. Attempts should also be made to rectify the diminished T-cell compartments in patients. Treatment with the combination of new agents for T cell stimulation, with a through characterization of the functional status of T cells in individual patients may enhance the probability of achieving antitumor immunity in vaccine trials. Added benefits that may be potentially achieved are boosting the immune defense mechanisms and minimizing the risk of opportunistic infections during immunosuppressive therapy in patients with MM and B-CLL.

#### Paper II

#### Signaling Molecules and Cytokine Production in T Cells of Patients with B-Cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia (B-CLL); Comparison of Indolent and Progressive Disease. (Medical Oncology 2005;22:291–302)

Most studies in B-CLL focus on the intrinsic abnormalities of the malignant B cells. However, there was increasing evidence that aberrant T-cell signaling may abrogate immune surveillance against the leukemia or even foster survival and progression of B-CLL cells through the secretion of soluble factors [293].

This study was undertaken to examine signaling compartment as well as cytokine production in T cells of CLL patients with indolent and progressive stages. Ten patients in a progressive phase and ten patients in an indolent stage/plateau phase were included in the study. Ten aged-matched healthy individuals were also included. Four-color flow cytometry was utilized to determine the expression of the intracellular signaling molecules (CD3 $\zeta$  chain, Lck, Fyn, ZAP-70 and PI3-kinase) as well as the T-cell regulatory cytokines (IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4).

Although there were no major statistically significant differences in the absolute number of IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$ -producing T cells *in vivo* between healthy donors and patients, there were major differences in intensity of these cytokines as assessed by mean fluorescent intensity (MFI). The reason for a high spontaneous secretion of IL-4 and IFN- $\gamma$  in both CD4 and CD8 T cells in B-CLL patients is not clear but, is interesting to note that several T-cell derived cytokines including IL-4, IFN- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$  may inhibit apoptosis of B-CLL cells, particularly by upregulating bcl-2 [248].

The absolute numbers of T cells that expressed signaling molecules were generally similar in indolent patients, progressive patients, and healthy controls. However, the B-CLL patients showed significantly higher intensity of CD3- $\zeta$ -chain expression as compared to healthy donors, but there was no difference between indolent and progressive patients. Regarding the intensity of ZAP-70 in T cells, indolent patients showed significantly higher expression than healthy donors and progressive patients.

Cumulatively, the data of this study suggest that several but not all T cell signaling molecules may be normal or even overexpressed in B-CLL patients in relation to normal control donor's T cells and especially in patients with indolent CLL. In addition, the expression of CD3- $\zeta$ -chain and ZAP-70, which are key molecules in the initiation of intracellular TCR signaling pathways, as well as IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-4, were more overexpressed in indolent patients than in progressive patients. The biological meaning of these findings remains unclear but it might be speculated that interaction of T cells and B cells during the indolent phase may be involved in the progression of the disease. Another possibility could be that as the disease progress, malignant B cells exert greater negative feedback on T cell functions,

despite the increasing number of T cells that accompany the expanding number of B-CLL cells as disease progression.

## Paper III

#### Signaling molecules and cytokine production in T cells of patients with B-cell Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia: long-term effects of fludarabine and alemtuzumab treatment. (Leukemia & Lymphoma 2006;47:1229–1238)

Fludarabine and alemtuzumab are routinely used for treatment of B-CLL. Purine analogues such as fludarabine were able to produce significant improvements in remission rates and durations, however, alone they did not lead to improved survival [201]. Alemtuzumab is a humanized anti-CD52 mAb, which is approved for use in fludarabine-refractory B-CLL [207, 294]. CD52 is present on >95% of all lymphocytes and particularly on malignant B- and T-cells in virtually all lymphoid malignancies and on monocytes and macrophages. A small proportion (1-5%) of normal T cells are CD52 negative [211, 213, 214]. The main side effect of alemtuzumab is depletion of normal lymphocytes and thereby an increased risk of infections. Not only alemtuzumab but also fludarabine therapy may lead to a decrease of T-cells, including CD4 and CD8 lymphocytes and long-lasting reductions and suppressions of CD4 lymphocytes were observed following treatment with fludarabine [217, 218].

The aim of the present study was to compare the expression of signaling molecules and cytokine production by T-cells of B-CLL patients in long-term unmaintained remission/plateau phase following fludarabine or alemtuzumab treatment with that of indolent/untreated B-CLL patients and healthy donors. The frequency and intensity of TCR-CD3<sup>2</sup> chain, Lck, Fyn, ZAP-70, PI3-Kinase as well as IFN-y and IL-4 production in CD4 and CD8 T cells was examined by flow cytometry. T-cell function was assessed by stimulation with tuberculin purified protein derivative (PPD) and phytohemagglutinin (PHA). Despite reduction in cell numbers, expression of IFN-y and IL-4 in T-cells in the treated patients was significantly higher than in healthy donors. Intensity of most signaling molecules in treated patients was relatively unaffected versus healthy donors but lower than in untreated-indolent patients. The total numbers of T cells which expressed each of the signaling molecules however, were decreased in the patients with no difference between fludarabine and alemtuzumab treated patients. The T-cell response to PHA but not PPD was reduced in treated patients. The results suggest that despite some alterations in signaling molecules and a marked reduction in T-cell number, overall T-cell functions may be relatively well preserved after treatment with fludarabine or alemtuzumab.

## Paper IV

# Gene expression profiling of peripheral T cells in patients with indolent B-CLL. (Manuscript)

Despite the apparent long life *in vivo*, CLL cells usually undergo spontaneous apoptosis under conditions that support the growth of human B-cell lines *in vitro* [231-233]. This suggests that such *ex vivo* conditions require essential survival factors and that the resistance to apoptosis is not intrinsic to the CLL cells [232, 233, 295].

There is substantial evidence that T cell functions are dysregulated in B-CLL patients and it has been speculated that T cells may contribute to the survival and growth of the leukemic clone [261]. In this paper, we have compared Affymetrix-platform's global gene expression profiles of purified T cells from the peripheral blood of untreated, indolent B-CLL patients with healthy donors and, as control, non-progressive multiple myeloma (MM) stage I patients in an attempt to delineate T cell factors that may have an impact on supporting the malignant B-CLL cells. We have also attempted to mark out genes whose deregulation may be related to the underlying the cause of the T cell expansion and aberrant functions noted in B-CLL.

The results of this study demonstrate that expression of a large number (356) of genes that are involved in different cellular pathways and activities including signaling, proliferation control, apoptosis, metabolism, immune response, and cytoskeleton formation are deregulated in comparison to healthy donors and patients with MM. The results of gene expression profiling was verified using quantitative real time PCR (QRT-PCR) on highly purified CD4 and CD8 T cells of 14 patients with B-CLL in indolent stage, 6 patients with MM stage I, and 10 healthy donors. The purification of T cells was carried out by immunomagnetic depletion of B cells, NK cells, and monocytes.

Three genes that demonstrated the greatest upregulation were the chemokines XCL1, XCL2, and the cytokine IFN-γ. CCL4 and CCL5 are two other important chemokines that also were found to be specifically upregulated in T cells of B-CLL patients, as well as the transcription factor KLF6. KLF6 increases the production of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS), which in turn enhances the production of intracellular nitric oxide (NO). It was previously shown that NO inhibits the apoptosis of B-CLL cells [296-298]. Moreover, the immunosuppressive effects of NO, could partly explain the impairment in T cell function noted in CLL patients [298, 299]. TRAF1 is another factor that was observed to be upregulated in the T cells and could exert the antiapoptotic effect on T cells, contributing in expansion of T cells in CLL.

It might be assumed that these highly upregulated molecules, may have an effect on the survival of neoplastic cells. Further studies are needed to examine this and to get better understanding of B-CLL pathobiology.

# 7 FUTURE PROSPECTS

The annual statistical data reported by the American Cancer Society reveals that the rate of mortality from cancer has not changed over the past 50 years [300]. So far our knowledge about cancer appeared to have only minor effects on efforts to clinically control the cancer. The reason might be, at least in part, because of targeted cancer therapies and cancer biomarkers are in the middle of its way from lab/reports to clinical reality [300]. Following advances in the molecular diagnosis, especially by microarray, a new molecular signature of different types of cancers will be available which hopefully lead us to discover specific and more effective form of cancer therapy.

The cooperative impact of microenvironment or non-malignant cells to the malignant cells is very well known. In this study we have shown that in MM and CLL along with the malignant cells, T-cells are also abnormal in phenotype and function. We also have shown that in CLL, T cells release factors that may support the disease. Therefore in any therapeutically approach for restoring the T-cells, functionally and numerically, or specifically targeting the aberrant T cells/T-cells' destructive products in patients are of great importance. One interesting approach could be to restore and/or expand spontaneously occurring leukemia specific T cells (which exists in a very low number [261]) by new emerging techniques such as treatment with IL-2 [301, 302], ex vivo production of Xcellerated T cells using anti-CD3 and -CD28 coated beads [303, 304], treatment with CD28 superagonists [305], or perhaps lenalidomide [96]. If successful, such effort may lead to development of more effective immune-based therapy of MM and B-CLL. Some studies showed that activated and expanded T cells sustain a broad T-cell repertoire [306, 307], which is critical for raising an effective immune response to infection, cancer, and vaccination [308].

Many scientists are trying different approaches of immunotherapy to target MM and CLL. Vaccination, especially DC based, may be attractive. Since T cells, both CD4 and CD8, are central part of the adaptive immune response and since T cells in MM and CLL appears to be dysfunctional, such effort to restore T cells may be central.

Selecting the appropriate patient group seems to be another essential factor for clinical success. Therefore, it is very important to take the action against the disease as early as possible especially in MM patients who showed the correlation between T cell abnormalities and advancing disease. Patients with a pre-existing anti-tumor activity, although very weak, seem to be the candidates most likely to respond to vaccine therapy. It could be easier to boost an existing immunity than to induce de novo immunity against weak Ags [309, 310]. It has become clear that high number of

T cells attacking the tumor is of major importance [309]. The best approach should generate highest possible number of effector cells.

# 8 ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my genuine gratitude to all who have supported and encouraged me throughout the process of earning this thesis.

**Professor Håkan Mellstedt**, my esteemed supervisor. Thank you for accepting me as a member in your group and sharing invaluable expertise. I am grateful for the scientific guidance, never ending enthusiasm and support you provided. You taught me how to see and solve the scientific problems, and you always had time for me when I knock on the door, despite your tremendously busy schedule. I have always looked up to you as a remarkable scholar and scientist. You are an industrious group leader blessed by virtues of modesty, patience and a warm heart.

**Professor Anders Österborg**, my co-supervisor. Thank you for your revered supervision, the indispensable advice, incessant support, and for always being available. Your true passion for science was evident from the guidance you provided. I have always admired your outstanding modesty and knowledge, and working with you has always been a privilege.

**Dr Aniruddha (Raja) Choudhury**, my co-supervisor. Thank you for your supervision and for interesting conversations. Thank you for being a good friend and colleague. Your expertise advice especially in cellular immunology was an important part of my education. Along with being a scientific pedagogue, I am also grateful for your patience help with proofreading my English documents.

**Dr Mahmood Jeddi-Tehrani**. Thank you for all of your support and help. Your warm and honest friendship and generosity during these years has enriched my PhD experience. The fruitful dialogues we had about science were always helpful and guided me in the right direction.

**Dr Baback Gharizadeh**, a very good friend of mine. Thank you for the generous amount of time that you spent with me. Your advice was very helpful to me. I am also grateful for the computer skills you taught me and for being ready to give me a hand with any matter.

**Malihe** and **Armin**, the members of my family. Thank you for supporting and encouraging me all of the time, especially when I had little time to spend with you. Most importantly for your tolerance of my bad temper when I had negative results!

All of the members of Prof. Mellstedt's group. Fariba S. Mozaffari for teaching me the FACS and being a good colleague. Parviz Kokhaei, Katja Derkow, Amir Danesh-Manesh, and Marzia Palma for being pleasant lab/office-mates and making the lab such a nice place to work. Many special thanks to Ingrid Eriksson and Barbro Näsman-Glaser for your never-ending generous technical support. Special thanks to Eva Mikaelsson for being a very nice colleague, and for taking time for my many different questions including the Swedish language. Amir Osman Abdalla, one of my best friends. Thank you very much for sharing the experiences that you have had, including your pediatrics skills. I enjoy your friendship, Amir. I also want to thank the other group members; Eva D. Rossmann, Katja Markovic, Szilvia Mosolits, Lena Virving, Birgitta Hagström, Claes Karlsson, Jeanette Lundin, Lotta Hansson, Reza Rezvany,

**Ingrid Helander**, and **Maria Liljefors**. Many special thanks to **Gunilla Burén**, for always being overwhelm, pleasant, kind, and sweet. Thank you very much for your generous help and support. Thanks to **Gerd Ståhlberg** and **Leila Relander** for being such helpful office managers.

Kaveh Mashayekhi and Ali Moshfegh for their help in analyzing the microarray data.

**Professor Tina Dalianis** and **Professor Stephan Einhorn**, the present and previous prefects of the Oncology-Pathology department. Thank you for maintaining a creative and pleasant environment at CCK.

All the members of **Professor Rolf Kiessling**'s group. In particular Rolf himself, Elena, Anna, Volkan, Håkan N., Tomas, Simona, Telma and Mikael.

All members of **Professor Pavel Pisa**'s group. In particular Pavel himself, Maxim P, Anna-Karin R, Andreas, Fredrik, and Kajsa. Special thanks to David W. Culp for your friendly help.

All the members of **Professor Tina Dalianis**'s group. In particular Tina herself, Torbjörn, Liselotte, David, Shirin and Peter.

Hossein Abdoli and Mostafa Poyan for your never ending support.

Amir and Maryam Jalali, although I have found you a little bit late, I have enjoyed being with you, and having your very friendly support during these days.

Thanks to **Dr Freidoun Albertioni, Kambiz, Aris**, **Tanya**, **Nader N, Mehran G, Bita**, **Parisa** and **Takayuki** for your friendly support.

Thanks to technical support of the **CCK crew**: Evi G, Anders E, Sören, Juan, Agnetha, Eva-Lena, Mari, Elisabeth, Emeli, and Elle. Special thanks to Joe for being helpful and a friend. I also want to thank the CCK's party guys: Aris, Keneth, Maxim, Salah, and Garth.

Thanks to Salim Mottagui-Tabar, for being such a good friend whenever I came to you.

Thanks to all of the patients and donors who participated in this study.

I also want to thank all of my teachers in the school of Sciences in Tehran and Shiraz University. In particular Dr Elahe Elahi, Dr Ali Moradshahi, and Dr Homa Rajaei.

Thanks to all co-authors of my papers for their cooperation in getting the job done.

This study was supported by grants from the Swedish Cancer Society, the Cancer Society in Stockholm, the King Gustav the 5th Jubilee Found, the Cancer and Allergy Foundation, the Karolinska Institutet Foundation, and the Torsten & Ragnar Söderberg Foundation.

# 9 **REFERENCES**

- [1] C. A. Janeway, Jr., "The immune system evolved to discriminate infectious nonself from noninfectious self," *Immunol Today*, vol. 13, pp. 11-6, 1992.
- [2] M. Kasahara, T. Suzuki, and L. D. Pasquier, "On the origins of the adaptive immune system: novel insights from invertebrates and cold-blooded vertebrates," *Trends Immunol*, vol. 25, pp. 105-11, 2004.
- [3] C. A. Janeway, P. Travers, M. Walport, and M. Shlomchik, *Immunobiology. The immune* system in health and disease, 6 ed: Churchill Livingstone, 2005.
- [4] Thomas J. Kindt, Barbara A. Osborne, and Richard A. Goldsby, *Kuby Immunology*, 6 ed: W. H. Freeman, 2006.
- [5] C. H. Tay, E. Szomolanyi-Tsuda, and R. M. Welsh, "Control of infections by NK cells," *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, vol. 230, pp. 193-220, 1998.
- [6] E. R. Unanue, "Studies in listeriosis show the strong symbiosis between the innate cellular system and the T-cell response," *Immunol Rev*, vol. 158, pp. 11-25, 1997.
- [7] C. A. Biron, K. B. Nguyen, G. C. Pien, L. P. Cousens, and T. P. Salazar-Mather, "Natural killer cells in antiviral defense: function and regulation by innate cytokines," *Annu Rev Immunol*, vol. 17, pp. 189-220, 1999.
- [8] C. Ching and C. Lopez, "Natural killing of herpes simplex virus type 1-infected target cells: normal human responses and influence of antiviral antibody," *Infect Immun*, vol. 26, pp. 49-56, 1979.
- [9] J. Joncas, Y. Monczak, F. Ghibu, C. Alfieri, A. Bonin, G. Ahronheim, and G. Rivard, "Brief report: killer cell defect and persistent immunological abnormalities in two patients with chronic active Epstein-Barr virus infection," *J Med Virol*, vol. 28, pp. 110-7, 1989.
- [10] A. Martin-Fontecha, L. L. Thomsen, S. Brett, C. Gerard, M. Lipp, A. Lanzavecchia, and F. Sallusto, "Induced recruitment of NK cells to lymph nodes provides IFN-gamma for T(H)1 priming," *Nat Immunol*, vol. 5, pp. 1260-5, 2004.
- [11] M. A. Cooper, T. A. Fehniger, A. Fuchs, M. Colonna, and M. A. Caligiuri, "NK cell and DC interactions," *Trends Immunol*, vol. 25, pp. 47-52, 2004.
- [12] D. I. Godfrey, H. R. MacDonald, M. Kronenberg, M. J. Smyth, and L. Van Kaer, "NKT cells: what's in a name?" *Nat Rev Immunol*, vol. 4, pp. 231-7, 2004.
- [13] D. I. Godfrey, M. J. McConville, and D. G. Pellicci, "Chewing the fat on natural killer T cell development," *Journal of experimenatl medicine*, vol. 203, pp. 2229-2232, 2006.
- [14] L. Van Kaer and S. Joyce, "Innate immunity: NKT cells in the spotlight," *Curr Biol*, vol. 15, pp. R429-31, 2005.
- [15] T. Inui, R. Nakagawa, S. Ohkura, Y. Habu, Y. Koike, K. Motoki, N. Kuranaga, M. Fukasawa, N. Shinomiya, and S. Seki, "Age-associated augmentation of the synthetic ligand- mediated function of mouse NK1.1 ag(+) T cells: their cytokine production and hepatotoxicity in vivo and in vitro," *J Immunol*, vol. 169, pp. 6127-32, 2002.
- [16] M. Kronenberg, "Toward an understanding of NKT cell biology: progress and paradoxes," *Annu Rev Immunol*, vol. 23, pp. 877-900, 2005.
- [17] M. Fransson, M. Adner, J. Erjefalt, L. Jansson, R. Uddman, and L. O. Cardell, "Upregulation of Toll-like receptors 2, 3 and 4 in allergic rhinitis," *Respir Res*, vol. 6, pp. 100, 2005.

- [18] M. J. Bevan, "Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay," *J Exp Med*, vol. 143, pp. 1283-8, 1976.
- [19] M. J. Bevan, "Minor H antigens introduced on H-2 different stimulating cells cross-react at the cytotoxic T cell level during in vivo priming," *J Immunol*, vol. 117, pp. 2233-8, 1976.
- [20] A. L. Ackerman and P. Cresswell, "Cellular mechanisms governing cross-presentation of exogenous antigens," *Nat Immunol*, vol. 5, pp. 678-84, 2004.
- [21] A. E. Nel, "T-cell activation through the antigen receptor. Part 1: signaling components, signaling pathways, and signal integration at the T-cell antigen receptor synapse," *J Allergy Clin Immunol*, vol. 109, pp. 758-70, 2002.
- [22] T. M. Razzaq, P. Ozegbe, E. C. Jury, P. Sembi, N. M. Blackwell, and P. S. Kabouridis, "Regulation of T-cell receptor signalling by membrane microdomains," *Immunology*, vol. 113, pp. 413-26, 2004.
- [23] P. L. Schwartzberg, "Genetic approaches to tyrosine kinase signaling pathways in the immune system," *Immunol Res*, vol. 27, pp. 481-8, 2003.
- [24] V. L. Tybulewicz, L. Ardouin, A. Prisco, and L. F. Reynolds, "Vav1: a key signal transducer downstream of the TCR," *Immunol Rev*, vol. 192, pp. 42-52, 2003.
- [25] F. Sallusto, D. Lenig, R. Forster, M. Lipp, and A. Lanzavecchia, "Two subsets of memory T lymphocytes with distinct homing potentials and effector functions," *Nature*, vol. 401, pp. 708-12, 1999.
- [26] R. K. Gershon and K. Kondo, "Infectious immunological tolerance," *Immunology*, vol. 21, pp. 903-14, 1971.
- [27] M. Beyer and J. L. Schultze, "Regulatory T cells in cancer," *Blood*, vol. 108, pp. 804-11, 2006.
- [28] S. Sakaguchi, N. Sakaguchi, M. Asano, M. Itoh, and M. Toda, "Immunologic selftolerance maintained by activated T cells expressing IL-2 receptor alpha-chains (CD25). Breakdown of a single mechanism of self-tolerance causes various autoimmune diseases," *J Immunol*, vol. 155, pp. 1151-64, 1995.
- [29] K. H. Mills and P. McGuirk, "Antigen-specific regulatory T cells--their induction and role in infection," *Semin Immunol*, vol. 16, pp. 107-17, 2004.
- [30] S. Sakaguchi, "Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic self-tolerance and negative control of immune responses," *Annu Rev Immunol*, vol. 22, pp. 531-62, 2004.
- [31] S. Sakaguchi, "Naturally arising Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in immunological tolerance to self and non-self," *Nat Immunol*, vol. 6, pp. 345-52, 2005.
- [32] S. Vigouroux, E. Yvon, E. Biagi, and M. K. Brenner, "Antigen-induced regulatory T cells," *Blood*, vol. 104, pp. 26-33, 2004.
- [33] T. Azuma, T. Takahashi, A. Kunisato, T. Kitamura, and H. Hirai, "Human CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress NKT cell functions," *Cancer Res*, vol. 63, pp. 4516-20, 2003.
- [34] W. Chen, "Dendritic cells and (CD4+)CD25+ T regulatory cells: crosstalk between two professionals in immunity versus tolerance," *Front Biosci*, vol. 11, pp. 1360-70, 2006.
- [35] H. W. Lim, P. Hillsamer, A. H. Banham, and C. H. Kim, "Cutting edge: direct suppression of B cells by CD4+ CD25+ regulatory T cells," *J Immunol*, vol. 175, pp. 4180-3, 2005.

- [36] M. Murakami, A. Sakamoto, J. Bender, J. Kappler, and P. Marrack, "CD25+CD4+ T cells contribute to the control of memory CD8+ T cells," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 99, pp. 8832-7, 2002.
- [37] C. Romagnani, M. Della Chiesa, S. Kohler, B. Moewes, A. Radbruch, L. Moretta, A. Moretta, and A. Thiel, "Activation of human NK cells by plasmacytoid dendritic cells and its modulation by CD4+ T helper cells and CD4+ CD25hi T regulatory cells," *Eur J Immunol*, vol. 35, pp. 2452-8, 2005.
- [38] P. Trzonkowski, E. Szmit, J. Mysliwska, A. Dobyszuk, and A. Mysliwski, "CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells inhibit cytotoxic activity of T CD8+ and NK lymphocytes in the direct cell-to-cell interaction," *Clin Immunol*, vol. 112, pp. 258-67, 2004.
- [39] R. S. McHugh, M. J. Whitters, C. A. Piccirillo, D. A. Young, E. M. Shevach, M. Collins, and M. C. Byrne, "CD4(+)CD25(+) immunoregulatory T cells: gene expression analysis reveals a functional role for the glucocorticoid-induced TNF receptor," *Immunity*, vol. 16, pp. 311-23, 2002.
- [40] J. Shimizu, S. Yamazaki, T. Takahashi, Y. Ishida, and S. Sakaguchi, "Stimulation of CD25(+)CD4(+) regulatory T cells through GITR breaks immunological self-tolerance," *Nat Immunol*, vol. 3, pp. 135-42, 2002.
- [41] M. Hara, C. I. Kingsley, M. Niimi, S. Read, S. E. Turvey, A. R. Bushell, P. J. Morris, F. Powrie, and K. J. Wood, "IL-10 is required for regulatory T cells to mediate tolerance to alloantigens in vivo," *J Immunol*, vol. 166, pp. 3789-96, 2001.
- [42] K. Nakamura, A. Kitani, and W. Strober, "Cell contact-dependent immunosuppression by CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cells is mediated by cell surface-bound transforming growth factor beta," *J Exp Med*, vol. 194, pp. 629-44, 2001.
- [43] Y. Belkaid and B. T. Rouse, "Natural regulatory T cells in infectious disease," *Nat Immunol*, vol. 6, pp. 353-60, 2005.
- [44] P. Hoffmann, J. Ermann, and M. Edinger, "CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation," *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, vol. 293, pp. 265-85, 2005.
- [45] S. Paust and H. Cantor, "Regulatory T cells and autoimmune disease," *Immunol Rev*, vol. 204, pp. 195-207, 2005.
- [46] H. Waldmann, L. Graca, S. Cobbold, E. Adams, M. Tone, and Y. Tone, "Regulatory T cells and organ transplantation," *Semin Immunol*, vol. 16, pp. 119-26, 2004.
- [47] P. L. Bergsagel and W. M. Kuehl, "Molecular pathogenesis and a consequent classification of multiple myeloma," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 23, pp. 6333-8, 2005.
- [48] M. A. Dimopoulos, E. Kastritis, and A. Anagnostopoulos, "Hematological malignancies: myeloma," *Ann Oncol*, vol. 17 Suppl 10, pp. x137-x143, 2006.
- [49] D. Parker, S. Whelan, J. Ferlay, L. Raymond, and J. Young, *Cancer incidence in five continents*, vol. VII: IARC, 1997.
- [50] D. M. Parkin, F. Bray, J. Ferlay, and P. Pisani, "Global cancer statistics, 2002," *CA Cancer J Clin*, vol. 55, pp. 74-108, 2005.
- [51] Socialstrylesen, "Cancer Incidence in Sweden 2004," 2005.
- [52] F. Levi, F. Lucchini, E. Negri, P. Boyle, and C. La Vecchia, "Changed trends of cancer mortality in the elderly," *Ann Oncol*, vol. 12, pp. 1467-77, 2001.
- [53] A. Altieri, B. Chen, J. L. Bermejo, F. Castro, and K. Hemminki, "Familial risks and temporal incidence trends of multiple myeloma," *Eur J Cancer*, vol. 42, pp. 1661-70, 2006.

- [54] A. J. Ashcroft, F. E. Davies, and G. J. Morgan, "Aetiology of bone disease and the role of bisphosphonates in multiple myeloma," *Lancet Oncol*, vol. 4, pp. 284-92, 2003.
- [55] P. R. Greipp, J. San Miguel, B. G. Durie, J. J. Crowley, B. Barlogie, J. Blade, M. Boccadoro, J. A. Child, H. Avet-Loiseau, R. A. Kyle, J. J. Lahuerta, H. Ludwig, G. Morgan, R. Powles, K. Shimizu, C. Shustik, P. Sonneveld, P. Tosi, I. Turesson, and J. Westin, "International staging system for multiple myeloma," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 23, pp. 3412-20, 2005.
- [56] E. S. Gilbert, S. A. Fry, L. D. Wiggs, G. L. Voelz, D. L. Cragle, and G. R. Petersen, "Analyses of combined mortality data on workers at the Hanford Site, Oak Ridge National Laboratory, and Rocky Flats Nuclear Weapons Plant," *Radiat Res*, vol. 120, pp. 19-35, 1989.
- [57] R. Z. Omar, J. A. Barber, and P. G. Smith, "Cancer mortality and morbidity among plutonium workers at the Sellafield plant of British Nuclear Fuels," *Br J Cancer*, vol. 79, pp. 1288-301, 1999.
- [58] D. E. Bergsagel, O. Wong, P. L. Bergsagel, R. Alexanian, K. Anderson, R. A. Kyle, and G. K. Raabe, "Benzene and multiple myeloma: appraisal of the scientific evidence," *Blood*, vol. 94, pp. 1174-82, 1999.
- [59] L. Fritschi and J. Siemiatycki, "Lymphoma, myeloma and occupation: results of a casecontrol study," *Int J Cancer*, vol. 67, pp. 498-503, 1996.
- [60] A. Gramenzi, I. Buttino, B. D'Avanzo, E. Negri, S. Franceschi, and C. La Vecchia, "Medical history and the risk of multiple myeloma," *Br J Cancer*, vol. 63, pp. 769-72, 1991.
- [61] Grogan TM, Muller-Hermelink HK, Van Camp B, Harris NL, and K. RA., *Plasma cell neoplasms*. Lyon, France.: International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) Press, 2001.
- [62] D. A. Riedel and L. M. Pottern, "The epidemiology of multiple myeloma," *Hematol Oncol Clin North Am*, vol. 6, pp. 225-47, 1992.
- [63] A. Tavani, A. Pregnolato, E. Negri, S. Franceschi, D. Serraino, A. Carbone, and C. La Vecchia, "Diet and risk of lymphoid neoplasms and soft tissue sarcomas," *Nutr Cancer*, vol. 27, pp. 256-60, 1997.
- [64] L. M. Brown, M. S. Linet, R. S. Greenberg, D. T. Silverman, R. B. Hayes, G. M. Swanson, A. G. Schwartz, J. B. Schoenberg, L. M. Pottern, and J. F. Fraumeni, Jr., "Multiple myeloma and family history of cancer among blacks and whites in the U.S," *Cancer*, vol. 85, pp. 2385-90, 1999.
- [65] B. Grosbois, P. Jego, M. Attal, C. Payen, M. J. Rapp, J. G. Fuzibet, M. Maigre, and R. Bataille, "Familial multiple myeloma: report of fifteen families," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 105, pp. 768-70, 1999.
- [66] H. Avet-Loiseau, T. Facon, B. Grosbois, F. Magrangeas, M. J. Rapp, J. L. Harousseau, S. Minvielle, and R. Bataille, "Oncogenesis of multiple myeloma: 14q32 and 13q chromosomal abnormalities are not randomly distributed, but correlate with natural history, immunological features, and clinical presentation," *Blood*, vol. 99, pp. 2185-91, 2002.
- [67] R. Fonseca, B. Barlogie, R. Bataille, C. Bastard, P. L. Bergsagel, M. Chesi, F. E. Davies, J. Drach, P. R. Greipp, I. R. Kirsch, W. M. Kuehl, J. M. Hernandez, S. Minvielle, L. M. Pilarski, J. D. Shaughnessy, Jr., A. K. Stewart, and H. Avet-Loiseau, "Genetics and cytogenetics of multiple myeloma: a workshop report," *Cancer Res*, vol. 64, pp. 1546-58, 2004.
- [68] K. Nishida, A. Tamura, N. Nakazawa, Y. Ueda, T. Abe, F. Matsuda, K. Kashima, and M. Taniwaki, "The Ig heavy chain gene is frequently involved in chromosomal

translocations in multiple myeloma and plasma cell leukemia as detected by in situ hybridization," *Blood*, vol. 90, pp. 526-34, 1997.

- [69] P. L. Bergsagel and W. M. Kuehl, "Chromosome translocations in multiple myeloma," Oncogene, vol. 20, pp. 5611-22, 2001.
- [70] R. Fonseca, C. S. Debes-Marun, E. B. Picken, G. W. Dewald, S. C. Bryant, J. M. Winkler, E. Blood, M. M. Oken, R. Santana-Davila, N. Gonzalez-Paz, R. A. Kyle, M. A. Gertz, A. Dispenzieri, M. Q. Lacy, and P. R. Greipp, "The recurrent IgH translocations are highly associated with nonhyperdiploid variant multiple myeloma," *Blood*, vol. 102, pp. 2562-7, 2003.
- [71] P. J. Ho, L. J. Campbell, J. Gibson, R. Brown, and D. Joshua, "The biology and cytogenetics of multiple myeloma," *Rev Clin Exp Hematol*, vol. 6, pp. 276-300, 2002.
- [72] C. A. Sheridan, "Multiple myeloma," Semin Oncol Nurs, vol. 12, pp. 59-69, 1996.
- Y. Pennec, D. Mottier, P. Youinou, B. Asselain, M. Chavance, P. Le Goff, P. Y. Le Prise,
   P. Miossec, and G. Le Menn, "Critical study of staging in multiple myeloma," *Scand J Haematol*, vol. 30, pp. 183-90, 1983.
- [74] J. R. Berenson, *Biology and Management of Multiple Myeloma*, 1st ed: Humana Press, 2004.
- [75] "Multiple myeloma (MM)," Helsinki, Finland: Duodecim Medical Publications Ltd., 2005 May 1.
- [76] R. A. Kyle, M. A. Gertz, T. E. Witzig, J. A. Lust, M. Q. Lacy, A. Dispenzieri, R. Fonseca, S. V. Rajkumar, J. R. Offord, D. R. Larson, M. E. Plevak, T. M. Therneau, and P. R. Greipp, "Review of 1027 patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma," *Mayo Clin Proc*, vol. 78, pp. 21-33, 2003.
- [77] R. A. Kyle, ""Benign" monoclonal gammopathy--after 20 to 35 years of follow-up," *Mayo Clin Proc*, vol. 68, pp. 26-36, 1993.
- [78] R. A. Kyle, "Diagnosis of multiple myeloma," Semin Oncol, vol. 29, pp. 2-4, 2002.
- [79] W. M. Kuehl and P. L. Bergsagel, "Multiple myeloma: evolving genetic events and host interactions," *Nat Rev Cancer*, vol. 2, pp. 175-87, 2002.
- [80] B. G. Durie and S. E. Salmon, "A clinical staging system for multiple myeloma. Correlation of measured myeloma cell mass with presenting clinical features, response to treatment, and survival," *Cancer*, vol. 36, pp. 842-54, 1975.
- [81] R. Bataille, B. G. Durie, and J. Grenier, "Serum beta2 microglobulin and survival duration in multiple myeloma: a simple reliable marker for staging," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 55, pp. 439-47, 1983.
- [82] L. Chiecchio, R. K. Protheroe, A. H. Ibrahim, K. L. Cheung, C. Rudduck, G. P. Dagrada, E. D. Cabanas, T. Parker, M. Nightingale, A. Wechalekar, K. H. Orchard, C. J. Harrison, N. C. Cross, G. J. Morgan, and F. M. Ross, "Deletion of chromosome 13 detected by conventional cytogenetics is a critical prognostic factor in myeloma," *Leukemia*, vol. 20, pp. 1610-7, 2006.
- [83] N. V. Smadja, C. Bastard, C. Brigaudeau, D. Leroux, and C. Fruchart, "Hypodiploidy is a major prognostic factor in multiple myeloma," *Blood*, vol. 98, pp. 2229-38, 2001.
- [84] R. Fonseca, S. A. Van Wier, W. J. Chng, R. Ketterling, M. Q. Lacy, A. Dispenzieri, P. L. Bergsagel, S. V. Rajkumar, P. R. Greipp, M. R. Litzow, T. Price-Troska, K. J. Henderson, G. J. Ahmann, and M. A. Gertz, "Prognostic value of chromosome 1q21 gain by fluorescent in situ hybridization and increase CKS1B expression in myeloma," *Leukemia*, vol. 20, pp. 2034-40, 2006.

- [85] T. Standal, M. Borset, S. Lenhoff, F. Wisloff, B. Stordal, A. Sundan, A. Waage, and C. Seidel, "Serum insulinlike growth factor is not elevated in patients with multiple myeloma but is still a prognostic factor," *Blood*, vol. 100, pp. 3925-9, 2002.
- [86] M. Filipits, H. Puhalla, and F. Wrba, "Low p27Kip1 expression is an independent prognostic factor in gallbladder carcinoma," *Anticancer Res*, vol. 23, pp. 675-9, 2003.
- [87] C. Jakob, K. Egerer, P. Liebisch, S. Turkmen, I. Zavrski, U. Kuckelkorn, U. Heider, M. Kaiser, C. Fleissner, J. Sterz, L. Kleeberg, E. Feist, G. R. Burmester, P. M. Kloetzel, and O. Sezer, "Circulating proteasome levels are an independent prognostic factor for survival in multiple myeloma," *Blood*, 2006, Nov 9, Epub.
- [88] R. A. Kyle and S. Vincent Rajkumar, "Treatment of multiple myeloma: an emphasis on new developments," *Ann Med*, vol. 38, pp. 111-5, 2006.
- [89] J. A. Child, G. J. Morgan, F. E. Davies, R. G. Owen, S. E. Bell, K. Hawkins, J. Brown, M. T. Drayson, and P. J. Selby, "High-dose chemotherapy with hematopoietic stem-cell rescue for multiple myeloma," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 348, pp. 1875-83, 2003.
- [90] A. Palumbo, S. Bringhen, M. T. Petrucci, P. Musto, F. Rossini, M. Nunzi, V. M. Lauta, C. Bergonzi, A. Barbui, T. Caravita, A. Capaldi, P. Pregno, T. Guglielmelli, M. Grasso, V. Callea, A. Bertola, F. Cavallo, P. Falco, C. Rus, M. Massaia, F. Mandelli, A. M. Carella, E. Pogliani, A. M. Liberati, F. Dammacco, G. Ciccone, and M. Boccadoro, "Intermediate-dose melphalan improves survival of myeloma patients aged 50 to 70: results of a randomized controlled trial," *Blood*, vol. 104, pp. 3052-7, 2004.
- [91] A. Palumbo, S. Bringhen, T. Caravita, E. Merla, V. Capparella, V. Callea, C. Cangialosi, M. Grasso, F. Rossini, M. Galli, L. Catalano, E. Zamagni, M. T. Petrucci, V. De Stefano, M. Ceccarelli, M. T. Ambrosini, I. Avonto, P. Falco, G. Ciccone, A. M. Liberati, P. Musto, and M. Boccadoro, "Oral melphalan and prednisone chemotherapy plus thalidomide compared with melphalan and prednisone alone in elderly patients with multiple myeloma: randomised controlled trial," *Lancet*, vol. 367, pp. 825-31, 2006.
- [92] D. Weber, K. Rankin, M. Gavino, K. Delasalle, and R. Alexanian, "Thalidomide alone or with dexamethasone for previously untreated multiple myeloma," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 21, pp. 16-9, 2003.
- [93] R. Garcia-Sanz, J. R. Gonzalez-Porras, J. M. Hernandez, M. Polo-Zarzuela, A. Sureda, C. Barrenetxea, L. Palomera, R. Lopez, C. Grande-Garcia, A. Alegre, M. Vargas-Pabon, O. N. Gutierrez, J. A. Rodriguez, and J. F. San Miguel, "The oral combination of thalidomide, cyclophosphamide and dexamethasone (ThaCyDex) is effective in relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma," *Leukemia*, vol. 18, pp. 856-63, 2004.
- [94] A. Palumbo, A. Bertola, P. Musto, T. Caravita, V. Callea, M. Nunzi, M. Grasso, P. Falco, C. Cangialosi, and M. Boccadoro, "Oral melphalan, prednisone, and thalidomide for newly diagnosed patients with myeloma," *Cancer*, vol. 104, pp. 1428-33, 2005.
- [95] P. G. Richardson, P. Sonneveld, M. W. Schuster, D. Irwin, E. A. Stadtmauer, T. Facon, J. L. Harousseau, D. Ben-Yehuda, S. Lonial, H. Goldschmidt, D. Reece, J. F. San-Miguel, J. Blade, M. Boccadoro, J. Cavenagh, W. S. Dalton, A. L. Boral, D. L. Esseltine, J. B. Porter, D. Schenkein, and K. C. Anderson, "Bortezomib or high-dose dexamethasone for relapsed multiple myeloma," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 352, pp. 2487-98, 2005.
- [96] K. C. Anderson, "Lenalidomide and thalidomide: mechanisms of action--similarities and differences," *Semin Hematol*, vol. 42, pp. S3-8, 2005.
- [97] J. R. Berenson, A. Lichtenstein, L. Porter, M. A. Dimopoulos, R. Bordoni, S. George, A. Lipton, A. Keller, O. Ballester, M. J. Kovacs, H. A. Blacklock, R. Bell, J. Simeone, D. J. Reitsma, M. Heffernan, J. Seaman, and R. D. Knight, "Efficacy of pamidronate in reducing skeletal events in patients with advanced multiple myeloma. Myeloma Aredia Study Group," N Engl J Med, vol. 334, pp. 488-93, 1996.

- [98] R. Lahtinen, M. Laakso, I. Palva, P. Virkkunen, and I. Elomaa, "Randomised, placebocontrolled multicentre trial of clodronate in multiple myeloma. Finnish Leukaemia Group," *Lancet*, vol. 340, pp. 1049-52, 1992.
- [99] P. Major, A. Lortholary, J. Hon, E. Abdi, G. Mills, H. D. Menssen, F. Yunus, R. Bell, J. Body, E. Quebe-Fehling, and J. Seaman, "Zoledronic acid is superior to pamidronate in the treatment of hypercalcemia of malignancy: a pooled analysis of two randomized, controlled clinical trials," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 19, pp. 558-67, 2001.
- [100] S. J. Choi, J. C. Cruz, F. Craig, H. Chung, R. D. Devlin, G. D. Roodman, and M. Alsina, "Macrophage inflammatory protein 1-alpha is a potential osteoclast stimulatory factor in multiple myeloma," *Blood*, vol. 96, pp. 671-5, 2000.
- [101] N. Giuliani, S. Colla, and V. Rizzoli, "New insight in the mechanism of osteoclast activation and formation in multiple myeloma: focus on the receptor activator of NFkappaB ligand (RANKL)," *Exp Hematol*, vol. 32, pp. 685-91, 2004.
- [102] W. G. Gunn, A. Conley, L. Deininger, S. D. Olson, D. J. Prockop, and C. A. Gregory, "A crosstalk between myeloma cells and marrow stromal cells stimulates production of DKK1 and interleukin-6: a potential role in the development of lytic bone disease and tumor progression in multiple myeloma," *Stem Cells*, vol. 24, pp. 986-91, 2006.
- [103] L. A. Ehrlich and G. D. Roodman, "The role of immune cells and inflammatory cytokines in Paget's disease and multiple myeloma," *Immunol Rev*, vol. 208, pp. 252-66, 2005.
- [104] O. Sezer, U. Heider, C. Jakob, I. Zavrski, J. Eucker, K. Possinger, C. Sers, and V. Krenn, "Immunocytochemistry reveals RANKL expression of myeloma cells," *Blood*, vol. 99, pp. 4646-7; author reply 4647, 2002.
- [105] N. Giuliani, S. Colla, R. Sala, M. Moroni, M. Lazzaretti, S. La Monica, S. Bonomini, M. Hojden, G. Sammarelli, S. Barille, R. Bataille, and V. Rizzoli, "Human myeloma cells stimulate the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappa B ligand (RANKL) in T lymphocytes: a potential role in multiple myeloma bone disease," *Blood*, vol. 100, pp. 4615-21, 2002.
- [106] R. N. Pearse, E. M. Sordillo, S. Yaccoby, B. R. Wong, D. F. Liau, N. Colman, J. Michaeli, J. Epstein, and Y. Choi, "Multiple myeloma disrupts the TRANCE/ osteoprotegerin cytokine axis to trigger bone destruction and promote tumor progression," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 98, pp. 11581-6, 2001.
- [107] J. H. Han, S. J. Choi, N. Kurihara, M. Koide, Y. Oba, and G. D. Roodman, "Macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha is an osteoclastogenic factor in myeloma that is independent of receptor activator of nuclear factor kappaB ligand," *Blood*, vol. 97, pp. 3349-53, 2001.
- [108] S. Uneda, H. Hata, F. Matsuno, N. Harada, Y. Mitsuya, F. Kawano, and H. Mitsuya, "Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha is produced by human multiple myeloma (MM) cells and its expression correlates with bone lesions in patients with MM," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 120, pp. 53-5, 2003.
- [109] E. Terpos, M. Politou, R. Szydlo, J. M. Goldman, J. F. Apperley, and A. Rahemtulla, "Serum levels of macrophage inflammatory protein-1 alpha (MIP-1alpha) correlate with the extent of bone disease and survival in patients with multiple myeloma," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 123, pp. 106-9, 2003.
- [110] J. W. Lee, H. Y. Chung, L. A. Ehrlich, D. F. Jelinek, N. S. Callander, G. D. Roodman, and S. J. Choi, "IL-3 expression by myeloma cells increases both osteoclast formation and growth of myeloma cells," *Blood*, vol. 103, pp. 2308-15, 2004.
- [111] F. Merico, L. Bergui, M. G. Gregoretti, P. Ghia, G. Aimo, I. J. Lindley, and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "Cytokines involved in the progression of multiple myeloma," *Clin Exp Immunol*, vol. 92, pp. 27-31, 1993.

- [112] M. Abe, K. Hiura, J. Wilde, A. Shioyasono, K. Moriyama, T. Hashimoto, S. Kido, T. Oshima, H. Shibata, S. Ozaki, D. Inoue, and T. Matsumoto, "Osteoclasts enhance myeloma cell growth and survival via cell-cell contact: a vicious cycle between bone destruction and myeloma expansion," *Blood*, vol. 104, pp. 2484-91, 2004.
- [113] K. C. Anderson, R. M. Jones, C. Morimoto, P. Leavitt, and B. A. Barut, "Response patterns of purified myeloma cells to hematopoietic growth factors," *Blood*, vol. 73, pp. 1915-24, 1989.
- [114] J. Moreaux, E. Legouffe, E. Jourdan, P. Quittet, T. Reme, C. Lugagne, P. Moine, J. F. Rossi, B. Klein, and K. Tarte, "BAFF and APRIL protect myeloma cells from apoptosis induced by interleukin 6 deprivation and dexamethasone," *Blood*, vol. 103, pp. 3148-57, 2004.
- [115] A. J. Novak, J. R. Darce, B. K. Arendt, B. Harder, K. Henderson, W. Kindsvogel, J. A. Gross, P. R. Greipp, and D. F. Jelinek, "Expression of BCMA, TACI, and BAFF-R in multiple myeloma: a mechanism for growth and survival," *Blood*, vol. 103, pp. 689-94, 2004.
- [116] L. A. Ehrlich, H. Y. Chung, I. Ghobrial, S. J. Choi, F. Morandi, S. Colla, V. Rizzoli, G. D. Roodman, and N. Giuliani, "IL-3 is a potential inhibitor of osteoblast differentiation in multiple myeloma," *Blood*, vol. 106, pp. 1407-14, 2005.
- [117] N. Giuliani, S. Colla, F. Morandi, M. Lazzaretti, R. Sala, S. Bonomini, M. Grano, S. Colucci, M. Svaldi, and V. Rizzoli, "Myeloma cells block RUNX2/CBFA1 activity in human bone marrow osteoblast progenitors and inhibit osteoblast formation and differentiation," *Blood*, vol. 106, pp. 2472-83, 2005.
- [118] T. Oshima, M. Abe, J. Asano, T. Hara, K. Kitazoe, E. Sekimoto, Y. Tanaka, H. Shibata, T. Hashimoto, S. Ozaki, S. Kido, D. Inoue, and T. Matsumoto, "Myeloma cells suppress bone formation by secreting a soluble Wnt inhibitor, sFRP-2," *Blood*, vol. 106, pp. 3160-5, 2005.
- [119] E. Tian, F. Zhan, R. Walker, E. Rasmussen, Y. Ma, B. Barlogie, and J. D. Shaughnessy, Jr., "The role of the Wnt-signaling antagonist DKK1 in the development of osteolytic lesions in multiple myeloma," N Engl J Med, vol. 349, pp. 2483-94, 2003.
- [120] E. Canalis, V. Deregowski, R. C. Pereira, and E. Gazzerro, "Signals that determine the fate of osteoblastic cells," *J Endocrinol Invest*, vol. 28, pp. 3-7, 2005.
- [121] G. D. Roodman, "Pathogenesis of myeloma bone disease," *Blood Cells Mol Dis*, vol. 32, pp. 290-2, 2004.
- [122] M. G. Alexandrakis, F. H. Passam, A. Sfiridaki, E. Kandidaki, P. Roussou, and D. S. Kyriakou, "Elevated serum concentration of hepatocyte growth factor in patients with multiple myeloma: correlation with markers of disease activity," *Am J Hematol*, vol. 72, pp. 229-33, 2003.
- [123] O. Hjertner, M. L. Torgersen, C. Seidel, H. Hjorth-Hansen, A. Waage, M. Borset, and A. Sundan, "Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) induces interleukin-11 secretion from osteoblasts: a possible role for HGF in myeloma-associated osteolytic bone disease," *Blood*, vol. 94, pp. 3883-8, 1999.
- [124] F. Silvestris, P. Cafforio, N. Calvani, and F. Dammacco, "Impaired osteoblastogenesis in myeloma bone disease: role of upregulated apoptosis by cytokines and malignant plasma cells," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 126, pp. 475-86, 2004.
- [125] K. Podar, Y. T. Tai, F. E. Davies, S. Lentzsch, M. Sattler, T. Hideshima, B. K. Lin, D. Gupta, Y. Shima, D. Chauhan, C. Mitsiades, N. Raje, P. Richardson, and K. C. Anderson, "Vascular endothelial growth factor triggers signaling cascades mediating multiple myeloma cell growth and migration," *Blood*, vol. 98, pp. 428-35, 2001.

- [126] K. Podar, L. P. Catley, Y. T. Tai, R. Shringarpure, P. Carvalho, T. Hayashi, R. Burger, R. L. Schlossman, P. G. Richardson, L. N. Pandite, R. Kumar, T. Hideshima, D. Chauhan, and K. C. Anderson, "GW654652, the pan-inhibitor of VEGF receptors, blocks the growth and migration of multiple myeloma cells in the bone marrow microenvironment," *Blood*, vol. 103, pp. 3474-9, 2004.
- [127] Y. W. Qiang, E. Kopantzev, and S. Rudikoff, "Insulinlike growth factor-I signaling in multiple myeloma: downstream elements, functional correlates, and pathway cross-talk," *Blood*, vol. 99, pp. 4138-46, 2002.
- [128] M. Urashima, D. Chauhan, H. Uchiyama, G. J. Freeman, and K. C. Anderson, "CD40 ligand triggered interleukin-6 secretion in multiple myeloma," *Blood*, vol. 85, pp. 1903-12, 1995.
- [129] E. Halapi, A. Werner, J. Wahlstrom, A. Osterborg, M. Jeddi-Tehrani, Q. Yi, C. H. Janson, H. Wigzell, J. Grunewald, and H. Mellstedt, "T cell repertoire in patients with multiple myeloma and monoclonad gammopathy of undetermined significance: Clonal CD8+ T cell expansions are found preferentially in patients with a low tumor burden," *Eur J Immunol*, vol. 9, pp. 2245-52, 1997.
- [130] M. Raitakari, R. D. Brown, D. Sze, E. Yuen, L. Barrow, M. Nelson, B. Pope, W. Esdale, J. Gibson, and D. E. Joshua, "T-cell expansions in patients with multiple myeloma have a phenotype of cytotoxic T cells," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 110, pp. 203-9, 2000.
- [131] D. M. Sze, G. Giesajtis, R. D. Brown, M. Raitakari, J. Gibson, J. Ho, A. G. Baxter, B. Fazekas de St Groth, A. Basten, and D. E. Joshua, "Clonal cytotoxic T cells are expanded in myeloma and reside in the CD8(+)CD57(+)CD28(-) compartment," *Blood*, vol. 98, pp. 2817-27, 2001.
- [132] B. Ludewig, S. Oehen, F. Barchiesi, R. A. Schwendener, H. Hengartner, and R. M. Zinkernagel, "Protective antiviral cytotoxic T cell memory is most efficiently maintained by restimulation via dendritic cells," *J Immunol*, vol. 163, pp. 1839-44, 1999.
- [133] R. D. Brown, E. Yuen, M. Nelson, J. Gibson, and D. Joshua, "The prognostic significance of T cell receptor beta gene rearrangements and idiotype-reactive T cells in multiple myeloma," *Leukemia*, vol. 11, pp. 1312-7, 1997.
- [134] L. E. Van den Hove, P. Meeus, A. Derom, H. Demuynck, G. E. Verhoef, P. Vandenberghe, and M. A. Boogaerts, "Lymphocyte profiles in multiple myeloma and monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance: flow-cytometric characterization and analysis in a two-dimensional correlation biplot," *Ann Hematol*, vol. 76, pp. 249-56, 1998.
- [135] L. E. Van den Hove, S. W. Van Gool, P. Vandenberghe, M. A. Boogaerts, and J. L. Ceuppens, "CD57+/CD28- T cells in untreated hemato-oncological patients are expanded and display a Th1-type cytokine secretion profile, ex vivo cytolytic activity and enhanced tendency to apoptosis," *Leukemia*, vol. 12, pp. 1573-82, 1998.
- [136] L. E. Van den Hove, P. Vandenberghe, S. W. Van Gool, J. L. Ceuppens, H. Demuynck, G. E. Verhoef, and M. A. Boogaerts, "Peripheral blood lymphocyte subset shifts in patients with untreated hematological tumors: evidence for systemic activation of the T cell compartment," *Leuk Res*, vol. 22, pp. 175-84, 1998.
- [137] J. Monteiro, F. Batliwalla, H. Ostrer, and P. K. Gregersen, "Shortened telomeres in clonally expanded CD28-CD8+ T cells imply a replicative history that is distinct from their CD28+CD8+ counterparts," *J Immunol*, vol. 156, pp. 3587-90, 1996.
- [138] D. M. Sze, R. D. Brown, E. Yuen, J. Gibson, J. Ho, M. Raitakari, A. Basten, D. E. Joshua, and B. Fazekas de St Groth, "Clonal cytotoxic T cells in myeloma," *Leuk Lymphoma*, vol. 44, pp. 1667-74, 2003.
- [139] M. Perez-Andres, J. Almeida, M. Martin-Ayuso, M. J. Moro, G. Martin-Nunez, J. Galende, J. Hernandez, G. Mateo, J. F. San Miguel, and A. Orfao, "Characterization of

bone marrow T cells in monoclonal gammopathy of undetermined significance, multiple myeloma, and plasma cell leukemia demonstrates increased infiltration by cytotoxic/Th1 T cells demonstrating a squed TCR-Vbeta repertoire," *Cancer*, vol. 106, pp. 1296-305, 2006.

- [140] O. Goodyear, K. Piper, N. Khan, J. Starczynski, P. Mahendra, G. Pratt, and P. Moss, "CD8+ T cells specific for cancer germline gene antigens are found in many patients with multiple myeloma, and their frequency correlates with disease burden," *Blood*, vol. 106, pp. 4217-24, 2005.
- [141] R. P. Gale and K. A. Foon, "Biology of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," Semin Hematol, vol. 24, pp. 209-29, 1987.
- [142] N. Chiorazzi, K. R. Rai, and M. Ferrarini, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia," N Engl J Med, vol. 352, pp. 804-15, 2005.
- [143] P. Ghia and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "The origin of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," Semin Oncol, vol. 33, pp. 150-6, 2006.
- [144] A. Raval, J. C. Byrd, and C. Plass, "Epigenetics in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," Semin Oncol, vol. 33, pp. 157-66, 2006.
- [145] A. Redaelli, B. L. Laskin, J. M. Stephens, M. F. Botteman, and C. L. Pashos, "The clinical and epidemiological burden of chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," *Eur J Cancer Care (Engl)*, vol. 13, pp. 279-87, 2004.
- [146] S. H. Walsh and R. Rosenquist, "Immunoglobulin gene analysis of mature B-cell malignancies: reconsideration of cellular origin and potential antigen involvement in pathogenesis," *Med Oncol*, vol. 22, pp. 327-41, 2005.
- [147] SEER, "Age Adjusted Incidence Rates by Sex For Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia, All Ages, All Races, SEER 17 Registries for 2000-2003," National Cancer Institute, 2006.
- [148] SEER, "Age-Adjusted Total US Mortality Rates For Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia, All Ages, All Races," National Cancer Institute, 2006.
- [149] L. Mellemkjaer, M. S. Linet, G. Gridley, M. Frisch, H. Moller, and J. H. Olsen, "Rheumatoid arthritis and cancer risk," *Eur J Cancer*, vol. 32A, pp. 1753-7, 1996.
- [150] B. Royer, D. Cazals-Hatem, J. Sibilia, F. Agbalika, J. M. Cayuela, T. Soussi, F. Maloisel, J. P. Clauvel, J. C. Brouet, and X. Mariette, "Lymphomas in patients with Sjogren's syndrome are marginal zone B-cell neoplasms, arise in diverse extranodal and nodal sites, and are not associated with viruses," *Blood*, vol. 90, pp. 766-75, 1997.
- [151] G. Valesini, R. Priori, D. Bavoillot, J. Osborn, M. G. Danieli, N. Del Papa, R. Gerli, M. Pietrogrande, M. G. Sabbadini, F. Silvestris, and L. Valsecchi, "Differential risk of non-Hodgkin's lymphoma in Italian patients with primary Sjogren's syndrome," *J Rheumatol*, vol. 24, pp. 2376-80, 1997.
- [152] F. Fais, F. Ghiotto, S. Hashimoto, B. Sellars, A. Valetto, S. L. Allen, P. Schulman, V. P. Vinciguerra, K. Rai, L. Z. Rassenti, T. J. Kipps, G. Dighiero, H. W. Schroeder, Jr., M. Ferrarini, and N. Chiorazzi, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells express restricted sets of mutated and unmutated antigen receptors," *J Clin Invest*, vol. 102, pp. 1515-25, 1998.
- [153] H. W. Schroeder, Jr. and G. Dighiero, "The pathogenesis of chronic lymphocytic leukemia: analysis of the antibody repertoire," *Immunol Today*, vol. 15, pp. 288-94, 1994.
- [154] R. N. Damle, T. Wasil, F. Fais, F. Ghiotto, A. Valetto, S. L. Allen, A. Buchbinder, D. Budman, K. Dittmar, J. Kolitz, S. M. Lichtman, P. Schulman, V. P. Vinciguerra, K. R. Rai, M. Ferrarini, and N. Chiorazzi, "Ig V gene mutation status and CD38 expression as novel prognostic indicators in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 94, pp. 1840-7, 1999.

- [155] T. J. Hamblin, Z. Davis, A. Gardiner, D. G. Oscier, and F. K. Stevenson, "Unmutated Ig V(H) genes are associated with a more aggressive form of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 94, pp. 1848-54, 1999.
- [156] A. D. Volkheimer, J. B. Weinberg, B. E. Beasley, J. F. Whitesides, J. P. Gockerman, J. O. Moore, G. Kelsoe, B. K. Goodman, and M. C. Levesque, "Progressive immunoglobulin gene mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: evidence for antigen-driven intraclonal diversification," *Blood*, 2006.
- [157] R. N. Damle, F. Ghiotto, A. Valetto, E. Albesiano, F. Fais, X. J. Yan, C. P. Sison, S. L. Allen, J. Kolitz, P. Schulman, V. P. Vinciguerra, P. Budde, J. Frey, K. R. Rai, M. Ferrarini, and N. Chiorazzi, "B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells express a surface membrane phenotype of activated, antigen-experienced B lymphocytes," *Blood*, vol. 99, pp. 4087-93, 2002.
- [158] A. Alfarano, S. Indraccolo, P. Circosta, S. Minuzzo, A. Vallario, R. Zamarchi, A. Fregonese, F. Calderazzo, A. Faldella, M. Aragno, C. Camaschella, A. Amadori, and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "An alternatively spliced form of CD79b gene may account for altered B-cell receptor expression in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 93, pp. 2327-35, 1999.
- [159] M. S. Cragg, H. T. Chan, M. D. Fox, A. Tutt, A. Smith, D. G. Oscier, T. J. Hamblin, and M. J. Glennie, "The alternative transcript of CD79b is overexpressed in B-CLL and inhibits signaling for apoptosis," *Blood*, vol. 100, pp. 3068-76, 2002.
- [160] U. Klein, Y. Tu, G. A. Stolovitzky, M. Mattioli, G. Cattoretti, H. Husson, A. Freedman, G. Inghirami, L. Cro, L. Baldini, A. Neri, A. Califano, and R. Dalla-Favera, "Gene expression profiling of B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia reveals a homogeneous phenotype related to memory B cells," *J Exp Med*, vol. 194, pp. 1625-38, 2001.
- [161] A. Rosenwald, A. A. Alizadeh, G. Widhopf, R. Simon, R. E. Davis, X. Yu, L. Yang, O. K. Pickeral, L. Z. Rassenti, J. Powell, D. Botstein, J. C. Byrd, M. R. Grever, B. D. Cheson, N. Chiorazzi, W. H. Wilson, T. J. Kipps, P. O. Brown, and L. M. Staudt, "Relation of gene expression phenotype to immunoglobulin mutation genotype in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Exp Med*, vol. 194, pp. 1639-47, 2001.
- [162] P. Ghia, K. Stamatopoulos, C. Belessi, C. Moreno, S. Stella, G. Guida, A. Michel, M. Crespo, N. Laoutaris, E. Montserrat, A. Anagnostopoulos, G. Dighiero, A. Fassas, F. Caligaris-Cappio, and F. Davi, "Geographic patterns and pathogenetic implications of IGHV gene usage in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: the lesson of the IGHV3-21 gene," *Blood*, vol. 105, pp. 1678-85, 2005.
- [163] F. Ghiotto, F. Fais, A. Valetto, E. Albesiano, S. Hashimoto, M. Dono, H. Ikematsu, S. L. Allen, J. Kolitz, K. R. Rai, M. Nardini, A. Tramontano, M. Ferrarini, and N. Chiorazzi, "Remarkably similar antigen receptors among a subset of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Clin Invest*, vol. 113, pp. 1008-16, 2004.
- [164] B. T. Messmer, E. Albesiano, D. G. Efremov, F. Ghiotto, S. L. Allen, J. Kolitz, R. Foa, R. N. Damle, F. Fais, D. Messmer, K. R. Rai, M. Ferrarini, and N. Chiorazzi, "Multiple distinct sets of stereotyped antigen receptors indicate a role for antigen in promoting chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Exp Med*, vol. 200, pp. 519-25, 2004.
- [165] G. Tobin, U. Thunberg, K. Karlsson, F. Murray, A. Laurell, K. Willander, G. Enblad, M. Merup, J. Vilpo, G. Juliusson, C. Sundstrom, O. Soderberg, G. Roos, and R. Rosenquist, "Subsets with restricted immunoglobulin gene rearrangement features indicate a role for antigen selection in the development of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 104, pp. 2879-85, 2004.
- [166] G. F. Widhopf, 2nd, L. Z. Rassenti, T. L. Toy, J. G. Gribben, W. G. Wierda, and T. J. Kipps, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells of more than 1% of patients express virtually identical immunoglobulins," *Blood*, vol. 104, pp. 2499-504, 2004.
- [167] K. Stamatopoulos, C. Belessi, C. Moreno, M. Boudjograh, G. Guida, T. Smilevska, L. Belhoul, S. Stella, N. Stavroyianni, M. Crespo, A. Hadzidimitriou, L. Sutton, F. Bosch, N. Laoutaris, A. Anagnostopoulos, E. Montserrat, A. Fassas, G. Dighiero, F. Caligaris-Cappio, H. Merle-Béral, P. Ghia, and F. Davi, "Over 20% of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia carry stereotyped receptors: pathogenetic implications and clinical correlations," *Blood*, vol. 109, pp. 259-70, 2007.
- [168] A. M. Buhl, J. Jurlander, F. S. Jorgensen, A. M. Ottesen, J. B. Cowland, L. M. Gjerdrum, B. V. Hansen, and H. Leffers, "Identification of a gene on chromosome 12q22 uniquely overexpressed in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 107, pp. 2904-11, 2006.
- [169] L. Virgilio, M. G. Narducci, M. Isobe, L. G. Billips, M. D. Cooper, C. M. Croce, and G. Russo, "Identification of the TCL1 gene involved in T-cell malignancies," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 91, pp. 12530-4, 1994.
- [170] M. G. Narducci, E. Pescarmona, C. Lazzeri, S. Signoretti, A. M. Lavinia, D. Remotti, E. Scala, C. D. Baroni, A. Stoppacciaro, C. M. Croce, and G. Russo, "Regulation of TCL1 expression in B- and T-cell lymphomas and reactive lymphoid tissues," *Cancer Res*, vol. 60, pp. 2095-100, 2000.
- [171] R. Bichi, S. A. Shinton, E. S. Martin, A. Koval, G. A. Calin, R. Cesari, G. Russo, R. R. Hardy, and C. M. Croce, "Human chronic lymphocytic leukemia modeled in mouse by targeted TCL1 expression," *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, vol. 99, pp. 6955-60, 2002.
- [172] A. de Capoa, C. Grappelli, F. R. Febbo, A. Spano, A. Niveleau, A. Cafolla, I. Cordone, and R. Foa, "Methylation levels of normal and chronic lymphocytic leukemia B lymphocytes: computer-assisted quantitative analysis of anti-5-methylcytosine antibody binding to individual nuclei," *Cytometry*, vol. 36, pp. 157-9, 1999.
- [173] J. Wahlfors, H. Hiltunen, K. Heinonen, E. Hamalainen, L. Alhonen, and J. Janne, "Genomic hypomethylation in human chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 80, pp. 2074-80, 1992.
- [174] A. Eden, F. Gaudet, A. Waghmare, and R. Jaenisch, "Chromosomal instability and tumors promoted by DNA hypomethylation," *Science*, vol. 300, pp. 455, 2003.
- [175] M. Hanada, D. Delia, A. Aiello, E. Stadtmauer, and J. C. Reed, "bcl-2 gene hypomethylation and high-level expression in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 82, pp. 1820-8, 1993.
- [176] P. Kantharidis, A. El-Osta, M. deSilva, D. M. Wall, X. F. Hu, A. Slater, G. Nadalin, J. D. Parkin, and J. R. Zalcberg, "Altered methylation of the human MDR1 promoter is associated with acquired multidrug resistance," *Clin Cancer Res*, vol. 3, pp. 2025-32, 1997.
- [177] M. R. Yuille, A. Condie, E. M. Stone, J. Wilsher, P. S. Bradshaw, L. Brooks, and D. Catovsky, "TCL1 is activated by chromosomal rearrangement or by hypomethylation," *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, vol. 30, pp. 336-41, 2001.
- [178] M. J. Keating, S. O'Brien, S. Lerner, C. Koller, M. Beran, L. E. Robertson, E. J. Freireich, E. Estey, and H. Kantarjian, "Long-term follow-up of patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia (CLL) receiving fludarabine regimens as initial therapy," *Blood*, vol. 92, pp. 1165-71, 1998.
- [179] B. D. Cheson, J. M. Bennett, M. Grever, N. Kay, M. J. Keating, S. O'Brien, and K. R. Rai, "National Cancer Institute-sponsored Working Group guidelines for chronic lymphocytic leukemia: revised guidelines for diagnosis and treatment," *Blood*, vol. 87, pp. 4990-7, 1996.
- [180] B. D. Cheson, J. M. Bennett, K. R. Rai, M. R. Grever, N. E. Kay, C. A. Schiffer, M. M. Oken, M. J. Keating, D. H. Boldt, S. J. Kempin, and et al., "Guidelines for clinical protocols for chronic lymphocytic leukemia: recommendations of the National Cancer Institute-sponsored working group," *Am J Hematol*, vol. 29, pp. 152-63, 1988.

- [181] R. I. Weed, "Exaggerated Delayed Hypersensitivity To Mosquito Bites In Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 26, pp. 257-68, 1965.
- [182] E. S. Jaffee, N. L. Harris, H. Stein, and J. W. Vardiman, Pathology and Genetics of Tumours of Haematopoietic and Lymphoid Tissues. Lyon, France: IARC Press, 2001.
- [183] J. L. Binet, F. Caligaris-Cappio, D. Catovsky, B. Cheson, T. Davis, G. Dighiero, H. Dohner, M. Hallek, P. Hillmen, M. Keating, E. Montserrat, T. J. Kipps, and K. Rai, "Perspectives on the use of new diagnostic tools in the treatment of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 107, pp. 859-61, 2006.
- [184] K. R. Rai, A. Sawitsky, E. P. Cronkite, A. D. Chanana, R. N. Levy, and B. S. Pasternack, "Clinical staging of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 46, pp. 219-34, 1975.
- [185] J. L. Binet, A. Auquier, G. Dighiero, C. Chastang, H. Piguet, J. Goasguen, G. Vaugier, G. Potron, P. Colona, F. Oberling, M. Thomas, G. Tchernia, C. Jacquillat, P. Boivin, C. Lesty, M. T. Duault, M. Monconduit, S. Belabbes, and F. Gremy, "A new prognostic classification of chronic lymphocytic leukemia derived from a multivariate survival analysis," *Cancer*, vol. 48, pp. 198-206, 1981.
- [186] E. Montserrat, J. Sanchez-Bisono, N. Vinolas, and C. Rozman, "Lymphocyte doubling time in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: analysis of its prognostic significance," Br J Haematol, vol. 62, pp. 567-75, 1986.
- [187] A. Krober, T. Seiler, A. Benner, L. Bullinger, E. Bruckle, P. Lichter, H. Dohner, and S. Stilgenbauer, "V(H) mutation status, CD38 expression level, genomic aberrations, and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 100, pp. 1410-6, 2002.
- [188] D. G. Oscier, A. C. Gardiner, S. J. Mould, S. Glide, Z. A. Davis, R. E. Ibbotson, M. M. Corcoran, R. M. Chapman, P. W. Thomas, J. A. Copplestone, J. A. Orchard, and T. J. Hamblin, "Multivariate analysis of prognostic factors in CLL: clinical stage, IGVH gene mutational status, and loss or mutation of the p53 gene are independent prognostic factors," *Blood*, vol. 100, pp. 1177-84, 2002.
- [189] L. Chen, J. Apgar, L. Huynh, F. Dicker, T. Giago-McGahan, L. Rassenti, A. Weiss, and T. J. Kipps, "ZAP-70 directly enhances IgM signaling in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 105, pp. 2036-41, 2005.
- [190] S. J. Richardson, C. Matthews, M. A. Catherwood, H. D. Alexander, B. S. Carey, J. Farrugia, A. Gardiner, S. Mould, D. Oscier, J. A. Copplestone, and A. G. Prentice, "ZAP-70 expression is associated with enhanced ability to respond to migratory and survival signals in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL)," *Blood*, vol. 107, pp. 3584-92, 2006.
- [191] R. Zanotti, A. Ambrosetti, M. Lestani, P. Ghia, C. Pattaro, A. Remo, F. Zanetti, S. Stella, O. Perbellini, G. Prato, G. Guida, F. Caligaris-Cappio, F. Menestrina, G. Pizzolo, and M. Chilosi, "ZAP-70 expression, as detected by immunohistochemistry on bone marrow biopsies from early-phase CLL patients, is a strong adverse prognostic factor," *Leukemia*, vol. 21, pp. 102-9, 2007.
- [192] M. Crespo, F. Bosch, N. Villamor, B. Bellosillo, D. Colomer, M. Rozman, S. Marce, A. Lopez-Guillermo, E. Campo, and E. Montserrat, "ZAP-70 expression as a surrogate for immunoglobulin-variable-region mutations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 348, pp. 1764-75, 2003.
- [193] Y. H. Chen, L. C. Peterson, D. Dittmann, A. Evens, S. Rosen, A. Khoong, T. V. Shankey, M. Forman, R. Gupta, and C. L. Gooldby, "Comparative analysis of flow cytometric techniques in assessment of ZAP-70 expression in ralation to IgVH mutational status in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Am J Clin Pathol*, vol. 2, pp. 1-10, 2007.
- [194] L. Z. Rassenti, L. Huynh, T. L. Toy, L. Chen, M. J. Keating, J. G. Gribben, D. S. Neuberg, I. W. Flinn, K. R. Rai, J. C. Byrd, N. E. Kay, A. Greaves, A. Weiss, and T. J. Kipps, "ZAP-70 compared with immunoglobulin heavy-chain gene mutation status as a

predictor of disease progression in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 351, pp. 893-901, 2004.

- [195] J. A. Orchard, R. E. Ibbotson, Z. Davis, A. Wiestner, A. Rosenwald, P. W. Thomas, T. J. Hamblin, L. M. Staudt, and D. G. Oscier, "ZAP-70 expression and prognosis in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," *Lancet*, vol. 363, pp. 105-11, 2004.
- [196] H. Mellstedt, A. S. Jack, T. J. Hamblin, P. McLaughlin, and J. P. Deans, *Therapeutic strategies in lymphoid malignancies*. An immunotherapeutic approach: Oxford, 2005.
- [197] H. Dohner, S. Stilgenbauer, A. Benner, E. Leupolt, A. Krober, L. Bullinger, K. Dohner, M. Bentz, and P. Lichter, "Genomic aberrations and survival in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 343, pp. 1910-6, 2000.
- [198] I. Tinhofer, G. Rubenzer, C. Holler, E. Hofstaetter, M. Stoecher, A. Egle, M. Steurer, and R. Greil, "Expression levels of CD38 in T cells predict course of disease in male patients with B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 108, pp. 2950-6, 2006.
- [199] G. Dighiero, K. Maloum, B. Desablens, B. Cazin, M. Navarro, R. Leblay, M. Leporrier, J. Jaubert, G. Lepeu, B. Dreyfus, J. L. Binet, and P. Travade, "Chlorambucil in indolent chronic lymphocytic leukemia. French Cooperative Group on Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia," N Engl J Med, vol. 338, pp. 1506-14, 1998.
- [200] C. Shustik, R. Mick, R. Silver, A. Sawitsky, K. Rai, and L. Shapiro, "Treatment of early chronic lymphocytic leukemia: intermittent chlorambucil versus observation," *Hematol Oncol*, vol. 6, pp. 7-12, 1988.
- [201] K. R. Rai, B. L. Peterson, F. R. Appelbaum, J. Kolitz, L. Elias, L. Shepherd, J. Hines, G. A. Threatte, R. A. Larson, B. D. Cheson, and C. A. Schiffer, "Fludarabine compared with chlorambucil as primary therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *N Engl J Med*, vol. 343, pp. 1750-7, 2000.
- [202] W. G. Wierda and S. M. O'Brien, "Initial therapy for patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Semin Oncol*, vol. 33, pp. 202-9, 2006.
- [203] T. Robak, J. Z. Blonski, M. Kasznicki, L. Konopka, B. Ceglarek, A. Dmoszynska, M. Soroka-Wojtaszko, A. B. Skotnicki, W. Nowak, J. Dwilewicz-Trojaczek, A. Tomaszewska, A. Hellmann, K. Lewandowski, K. Kuliczkowski, S. Potoczek, B. Zdziarska, J. Hansz, R. Kroll, M. Komarnicki, J. Holowiecki, and P. Grieb, "Cladribine with or without prednisone in the treatment of previously treated and untreated B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia updated results of the multicentre study of 378 patients," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 108, pp. 357-68, 2000.
- [204] A. Saven, R. H. Lemon, M. Kosty, E. Beutler, and L. D. Piro, "2-Chlorodeoxyadenosine activity in patients with untreated chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 13, pp. 570-4, 1995.
- [205] A. Chanan-Khan, K. C. Miller, L. Musial, D. Lawrence, S. Padmanabhan, K. Takeshita, C. W. Porter, D. W. Goodrich, Z. P. Bernstein, P. Wallace, D. Spaner, A. Mohr, C. Byrne, F. Hernandez-Ilizaliturri, C. Chrystal, P. Starostik, and M. S. Czuczman, "Clinical efficacy of lenalidomide in patients with relapsed or refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results of a phase II study," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 24, pp. 5343-9, 2006.
- [206] J. Lundin and A. Österborg, "Advances in the use of monoclonal antibodies in the therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Semin Hematol*, vol. 41, pp. 234-45, 2004.
- [207] M. J. Keating, I. Flinn, V. Jain, J. L. Binet, P. Hillmen, J. Byrd, M. Albitar, L. Brettman, P. Santabarbara, B. Wacker, and K. R. Rai, "Therapeutic role of alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) in patients who have failed fludarabine: results of a large international study," *Blood*, vol. 99, pp. 3554-61, 2002.

- [208] A. Österborg, H. Mellstedt, and M. Keating, "Clinical effects of alemtuzumab (Campath-1H) in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Med Oncol*, vol. 19 Suppl, pp. S21-6, 2002.
- [209] E. D. Rossmann, J. Lundin, R. Lenkei, H. Mellstedt, and A. Österborg, "Variability in Bcell antigen expression: implications for the treatment of B-cell lymphomas and leukemias with monoclonal antibodies," *Hematol J*, vol. 2, pp. 300-6, 2001.
- [210] J. R. Salisbury, N. T. Rapson, J. D. Codd, M. V. Rogers, and A. B. Nethersell, "Immunohistochemical analysis of CDw52 antigen expression in non-Hodgkin's lymphomas," *J Clin Pathol*, vol. 47, pp. 313-7, 1994.
- [211] J. Lundin, A. Porwit-MacDonald, E. D. Rossmann, C. Karlsson, P. Edman, M. R. Rezvany, E. Kimby, A. Österborg, and H. Mellstedt, "Cellular immune reconstitution after subcutaneous alemtuzumab (anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody, CAMPATH-1H) treatment as first-line therapy for B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," *Leukemia*, vol. 18, pp. 484-90, 2004.
- [212] B. Hertenstein, B. Wagner, D. Bunjes, C. Duncker, A. Raghavachar, R. Arnold, H. Heimpel, and H. Schrezenmeier, "Emergence of CD52-, phosphatidylinositolglycananchor-deficient T lymphocytes after in vivo application of Campath-1H for refractory Bcell non-Hodgkin lymphoma," *Blood*, vol. 86, pp. 1487-92, 1995.
- [213] A. Österborg, A. Werner, E. Halapi, J. Lundin, U. Harmenberg, H. Wigzell, and H. Mellstedt, "Clonal CD8+ and CD52- T cells are induced in responding B cell lymphoma patients treated with Campath-1H (anti-CD52)," *Eur J Haematol*, vol. 58, pp. 5-13, 1997.
- [214] A. C. Rawstron, S. J. Rollinson, S. Richards, M. A. Short, A. English, G. J. Morgan, G. Hale, and P. Hillmen, "The PNH phenotype cells that emerge in most patients after CAMPATH-1H therapy are present prior to treatment," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 107, pp. 148-53, 1999.
- [215] M. R. Rezvany, M. J. Tehrani, C. Karlsson, J. Lundin, H. Rabbani, A. Osterborg, and H. Mellstedt, "Reconstitution of the T-cell repertoire following treatment with alemtuzumab (anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody) in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 135, pp. 475-85, 2006.
- [216] A. J. Coles, M. Wing, S. Smith, F. Coraddu, S. Greer, C. Taylor, A. Weetman, G. Hale, V. K. Chatterjee, H. Waldmann, and A. Compston, "Pulsed monoclonal antibody treatment and autoimmune thyroid disease in multiple sclerosis," *Lancet*, vol. 354, pp. 1691-5, 1999.
- [217] L. Bergmann, "Present status of purine analogs in the therapy of chronic lymphocytic leukemias," *Leukemia*, vol. 11 Suppl 2, pp. S29-34, 1997.
- [218] K. Fenchel, L. Bergmann, P. Wijermans, A. Engert, H. Pralle, P. S. Mitrou, V. Diehl, and D. Hoelzer, "Clinical experience with fludarabine and its immunosuppressive effects in pretreated chronic lymphocytic leukemias and low-grade lymphomas," *Leuk Lymphoma*, vol. 18, pp. 485-92, 1995.
- [219] J. C. Byrd, L. H. McGrail, D. R. Hospenthal, R. S. Howard, N. A. Dow, and L. F. Diehl, "Herpes virus infections occur frequently following treatment with fludarabine: results of a prospective natural history study," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 105, pp. 445-7, 1999.
- [220] K. Takada, C. L. Danning, T. Kuroiwa, R. Schlimgen, I. O. Tassiulas, J. C. Davis, Jr., C. H. Yarboro, T. A. Fleisher, D. T. Boumpas, and G. G. Illei, "Lymphocyte depletion with fludarabine in patients with psoriatic arthritis: clinical and immunological effects," *Ann Rheum Dis*, vol. 62, pp. 1112-5, 2003.
- [221] B. D. Cheson, "Infectious and immunosuppressive complications of purine analog therapy," J Clin Oncol, vol. 13, pp. 2431-48, 1995.

- [222] T. Yamauchi, B. J. Nowak, M. J. Keating, and W. Plunkett, "DNA repair initiated in chronic lymphocytic leukemia lymphocytes by 4-hydroperoxycyclophosphamide is inhibited by fludarabine and clofarabine," *Clin Cancer Res*, vol. 7, pp. 3580-9, 2001.
- [223] D. Catovsky, S. Richard, and P. Hillmen, "Early results from LRF CLL4: a UK multicenter randomized study.," in *The American Society of Hematology (ASH) 47th Annual Meeting*. Georgia, US: The American Society of Hematology, 2005.
- [224] S. Alas, C. Emmanouilides, and B. Bonavida, "Inhibition of interleukin 10 by rituximab results in down-regulation of bcl-2 and sensitization of B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma to apoptosis," *Clin Cancer Res*, vol. 7, pp. 709-23, 2001.
- [225] N. Di Gaetano, Y. Xiao, E. Erba, R. Bassan, A. Rambaldi, J. Golay, and M. Introna, "Synergism between fludarabine and rituximab revealed in a follicular lymphoma cell line resistant to the cytotoxic activity of either drug alone," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 114, pp. 800-9, 2001.
- [226] M. J. Keating, S. O'Brien, M. Albitar, S. Lerner, W. Plunkett, F. Giles, M. Andreeff, J. Cortes, S. Faderl, D. Thomas, C. Koller, W. Wierda, M. A. Detry, A. Lynn, and H. Kantarjian, "Early results of a chemoimmunotherapy regimen of fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab as initial therapy for chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 23, pp. 4079-88, 2005.
- [227] W. Wierda, S. O'Brien, S. Wen, S. Faderl, G. Garcia-Manero, D. Thomas, K. A. Do, J. Cortes, C. Koller, M. Beran, A. Ferrajoli, F. Giles, S. Lerner, M. Albitar, H. Kantarjian, and M. Keating, "Chemoimmunotherapy with fludarabine, cyclophosphamide, and rituximab for relapsed and refractory chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 23, pp. 4070-8, 2005.
- [228] T. Elter, P. Borchmann, H. Schulz, M. Reiser, S. Trelle, R. Schnell, M. Jensen, P. Staib, T. Schinkothe, H. Stutzer, J. Rech, M. Gramatzki, W. Aulitzky, I. Hasan, A. Josting, M. Hallek, and A. Engert, "Fludarabine in combination with alemtuzumab is effective and feasible in patients with relapsed or refractory B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: results of a phase II trial," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 23, pp. 7024-31, 2005.
- [229] S. Paneesha and D. W. Milligan, "Stem cell transplantation for chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 128, pp. 145-52, 2005.
- [230] P. Dreger, P. Corradini, E. Kimby, M. Michallet, D. Milligan, J. Schetelig, W. Wiktor-Jedrzejczak, D. Niederwieser, M. Hallek, and E. Montserrat, "Indications for allogeneic stem cell transplantation in chronic lymphocytic leukemia: the EBMT transplant consensus," *Leukemia*, vol. 21, pp. 12-7, 2007.
- [231] J. A. Burger, M. Burger, and T. J. Kipps, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells express functional CXCR4 chemokine receptors that mediate spontaneous migration beneath bone marrow stromal cells," *Blood*, vol. 94, pp. 3658-67, 1999.
- [232] M. J. Holder, H. Wang, A. E. Milner, M. Casamayor, R. Armitage, M. K. Spriggs, W. C. Fanslow, I. C. MacLennan, C. D. Gregory, J. Gordon, and et al., "Suppression of apoptosis in normal and neoplastic human B lymphocytes by CD40 ligand is independent of Bc1-2 induction," *Eur J Immunol*, vol. 23, pp. 2368-71, 1993.
- [233] L. Lagneaux, A. Delforge, D. Bron, C. De Bruyn, and P. Stryckmans, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemic B cells but not normal B cells are rescued from apoptosis by contact with normal bone marrow stromal cells," *Blood*, vol. 91, pp. 2387-96, 1998.
- [234] P. Ghia, P. Circosta, C. Scielzo, A. Vallario, A. Camporeale, L. Granziero, and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "Differential effects on CLL cell survival exerted by different microenvironmental elements," *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol*, vol. 294, pp. 135-45, 2005.
- [235] P. Ghia, G. Strola, L. Granziero, M. Geuna, G. Guida, F. Sallusto, N. Ruffing, L. Montagna, P. Piccoli, M. Chilosi, and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "Chronic lymphocytic

leukemia B cells are endowed with the capacity to attract CD4+, CD40L+ T cells by producing CCL22," *Eur J Immunol*, vol. 32, pp. 1403-13, 2002.

- [236] G. Gorgun, T. A. Holderried, D. Zahrieh, D. Neuberg, and J. G. Gribben, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells induce changes in gene expression of CD4 and CD8 T cells," *J Clin Invest*, vol. 115, pp. 1797-805, 2005.
- [237] M. Nishio, T. Endo, N. Tsukada, J. Ohata, S. Kitada, J. C. Reed, N. J. Zvaifler, and T. J. Kipps, "Nurselike cells express BAFF and APRIL, which can promote survival of chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells via a paracrine pathway distinct from that of SDF-1alpha," *Blood*, vol. 106, pp. 1012-20, 2005.
- [238] N. Tsukada, J. A. Burger, N. J. Zvaifler, and T. J. Kipps, "Distinctive features of "nurselike" cells that differentiate in the context of chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 99, pp. 1030-7, 2002.
- [239] D. Messmer, T. Endo, B. T. Messmer, and T. J. Kipps, "Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia cells can induce monocytes to express high levels of BAFF and assume properties of nurse like cells in vitro.," *Blood*, vol. 108, pp. ASH's Abstract # 588, 2006.
- [240] L. Planelles, C. E. Carvalho-Pinto, G. Hardenberg, S. Smaniotto, W. Savino, R. Gomez-Caro, M. Alvarez-Mon, J. de Jong, E. Eldering, A. C. Martinez, J. P. Medema, and M. Hahne, "APRIL promotes B-1 cell-associated neoplasm," *Cancer Cell*, vol. 6, pp. 399-408, 2004.
- [241] C. Kern, J. F. Cornuel, C. Billard, R. Tang, D. Rouillard, V. Stenou, T. Defrance, F. Ajchenbaum-Cymbalista, P. Y. Simonin, S. Feldblum, and J. P. Kolb, "Involvement of BAFF and APRIL in the resistance to apoptosis of B-CLL through an autocrine pathway," *Blood*, vol. 103, pp. 679-88, 2004.
- [242] T. Endo, M. Nishio, T. Enzler, H. B. Cottam, T. Fukuda, D. F. James, M. Karin, and T. J. Kipps, "BAFF and APRIL support chronic lymphocytic leukemia B-cell survival through activation of the canonical NF-κB pathway" *Blood*, vol. 109, pp. 703-10, 2007.
- [243] S. Deaglio, T. Vaisitti, L. Bergui, L. Bonello, A. L. Horenstein, L. Tamagnone, L. Boumsell, and F. Malavasi, "CD38 and CD100 lead a network of surface receptors relaying positive signals for B-CLL growth and survival," *Blood*, vol. 105, pp. 3042-50, 2005.
- [244] F. Morabito, M. Mangiola, C. Stelitano, S. Deaglio, V. Callea, and F. Malavasi, "Simultaneous expression of CD38 and its ligand CD31 by chronic lymphocytic leukemia B-cells: anecdotal observation or pathogenetic hypothesis for the clinical outcome?" *Haematologica*, vol. 88, pp. 354-5, 2003.
- [245] H. Chen, A. T. Treweeke, D. C. West, K. J. Till, J. C. Cawley, M. Zuzel, and C. H. Toh, "In vitro and in vivo production of vascular endothelial growth factor by chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells," *Blood*, vol. 96, pp. 3181-7, 2000.
- [246] N. E. Kay, T. J. Hamblin, D. F. Jelinek, G. W. Dewald, J. C. Byrd, S. Farag, M. Lucas, and T. Lin, "Chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Hematology Am Soc Hematol Educ Program*, pp. 193-213, 2002.
- [247] M. Chilosi, G. Pizzolo, F. Caligaris-Cappio, A. Ambrosetti, F. Vinante, L. Morittu, F. Bonetti, L. Fiore-Donati, and G. Janossy, "Immunohistochemical demonstration of follicular dendritic cells in bone marrow involvement of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Cancer*, vol. 56, pp. 328-32, 1985.
- [248] F. Caligaris-Cappio, "Role of the microenvironment in chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," Br J Haematol, vol. 123, pp. 380-8, 2003.
- [249] J. Choe, L. Li, X. Zhang, C. D. Gregory, and Y. S. Choi, "Distinct role of follicular dendritic cells and T cells in the proliferation, differentiation, and apoptosis of a centroblast cell line, L3055," *J Immunol*, vol. 164, pp. 56-63, 2000.

- [250] S. Petrasch, G. Brittinger, H. H. Wacker, J. Schmitz, and M. Kosco-Vilbois, "Follicular dendritic cells in non-Hodgkin's lymphomas," *Leuk Lymphoma*, vol. 15, pp. 33-43, 1994.
- [251] L. Borche, A. Lim, J. L. Binet, and G. Dighiero, "Evidence that chronic lymphocytic leukemia B lymphocytes are frequently committed to production of natural autoantibodies," *Blood*, vol. 76, pp. 562-9, 1990.
- [252] B. M. Broker, A. Klajman, P. Youinou, J. Jouquan, C. P. Worman, J. Murphy, L. Mackenzie, R. Quartey-Papafio, M. Blaschek, P. Collins, and et al., "Chronic lymphocytic leukemic (CLL) cells secrete multispecific autoantibodies," *J Autoimmun*, vol. 1, pp. 469-81, 1988.
- [253] R. S. Schwartz and B. D. Stollar, "Heavy-chain directed B-cell maturation: continuous clonal selection beginning at the pre-B cell stage," *Immunol Today*, vol. 15, pp. 27-32, 1994.
- [254] Z. M. Sthoeger, M. Wakai, D. B. Tse, V. P. Vinciguerra, S. L. Allen, D. R. Budman, S. M. Lichtman, P. Schulman, L. R. Weiselberg, and N. Chiorazzi, "Production of autoantibodies by CD5-expressing B lymphocytes from patients with chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Exp Med*, vol. 169, pp. 255-68, 1989.
- [255] M. M. Bartik, D. Welker, and N. E. Kay, "Impairments in immune cell function in B cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Semin Oncol*, vol. 25, pp. 27-33, 1998.
- [256] C. Garcia, A. Rosen, E. Kimby, M. Aguilar-Santelises, M. Jondal, M. Bjorkhilm, G. Holm, and H. Mellstedt, "Higher T-cell imbalance and growth factor receptor expression in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL) as compared to monoclonal B-cell lymphocytosis of undetermined significance (B-MLUS)," *Leuk Res*, vol. 13, pp. 31-7, 1989.
- [257] E. Kimby, H. Mellstedt, B. Nilsson, M. Bjorkholm, and G. Holm, "T lymphocyte subpopulations in chronic lymphocytic leukemia of B cell type in relation to immunoglobulin isotype(s) on the leukemic clone and to clinical features," *Eur J Haematol*, vol. 38, pp. 261-7, 1987.
- [258] S. L. Zaknoen and N. E. Kay, "Immunoregulatory cell dysfunction in chronic B-cell leukemias," *Blood Rev*, vol. 4, pp. 165-74, 1990.
- [259] E. Rossi, E. Matutes, R. Morilla, K. Owusu-Ankomah, A. M. Heffernan, and D. Catovsky, "Zeta chain and CD28 are poorly expressed on T lymphocytes from chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Leukemia*, vol. 10, pp. 494-7, 1996.
- [260] E. D. Rossmann, M. Jeddi-Tehrani, A. Osterborg, and H. Mellstedt, "T-cell signaling and costimulatory molecules in B-chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL): an increased abnormal expression by advancing stage," *Leukemia*, vol. 17, pp. 2252-4, 2003.
- [261] H. Mellstedt and A. Choudhury, "T and B cells in B-chronic lymphocytic leukaemia: Faust, Mephistopheles and the pact with the Devil," *Cancer Immunol Immunother*, vol. 55, pp. 210-20, 2006.
- [262] N. Porakishvili, T. Roschupkina, T. Kalber, A. P. Jewell, K. Patterson, K. Yong, and P. M. Lydyard, "Expansion of CD4+ T cells with a cytotoxic phenotype in patients with B-chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (B-CLL)," *Clin Exp Immunol*, vol. 126, pp. 29-36, 2001.
- [263] E. D. Rossmann, N. Lewin, M. Jeddi-Tehrani, A. Osterborg, and H. Mellstedt, "Intracellular T cell cytokines in patients with B cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (B-CLL)," *Eur J Haematol*, vol. 68, pp. 299-306, 2002.
- [264] M. Aguilar-Santelises, A. Loftenius, C. Ljungh, S. B. Svenson, B. Andersson, H. Mellstedt, and M. Jondal, "Serum levels of helper factors (IL-1 alpha, IL-1 beta and IL-6), T-cell products (sCD4 and sCD8), sIL-2R and beta 2-microglobulin in patients with B-CLL and benign B lymphocytosis," *Leuk Res*, vol. 16, pp. 607-13, 1992.

- [265] A. N. Akbar, N. J. Borthwick, R. G. Wickremasinghe, P. Panayoitidis, D. Pilling, M. Bofill, S. Krajewski, J. C. Reed, and M. Salmon, "Interleukin-2 receptor common gamma-chain signaling cytokines regulate activated T cell apoptosis in response to growth factor withdrawal: selective induction of anti-apoptotic (bcl-2, bcl-xL) but not pro-apoptotic (bax, bcl-xS) gene expression," *Eur J Immunol*, vol. 26, pp. 294-9, 1996.
- [266] F. T. Cordingley, A. Bianchi, A. V. Hoffbrand, J. E. Reittie, H. E. Heslop, A. Vyakarnam, M. Turner, A. Meager, and M. K. Brenner, "Tumour necrosis factor as an autocrine tumour growth factor for chronic B-cell malignancies," *Lancet*, vol. 1, pp. 969-71, 1988.
- [267] H. Y. Luo, M. Rubio, G. Biron, G. Delespesse, and M. Sarfati, "Antiproliferative effect of interleukin-4 in B chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Immunother*, vol. 10, pp. 418-25, 1991.
- [268] L. Trentin, R. Zambello, C. Agostini, C. Enthammer, A. Cerutti, F. Adami, S. Zamboni, and G. Semenzato, "Expression and regulation of tumor necrosis factor, interleukin-2, and hematopoietic growth factor receptors in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 84, pp. 4249-56, 1994.
- [269] C. van Kooten, I. Rensink, L. Aarden, and R. van Oers, "Interleukin-4 inhibits both paracrine and autocrine tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced proliferation of B chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells," *Blood*, vol. 80, pp. 1299-306, 1992.
- [270] M. Podhorecka, A. Dmoszynska, J. Rolinski, and E. Wasik, "T type 1/type 2 subsets balance in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia--the three-color flow cytometry analysis," *Leuk Res*, vol. 26, pp. 657-60, 2002.
- [271] R. R. Furman, Z. Asgary, J. O. Mascarenhas, H. C. Liou, and E. J. Schattner, "Modulation of NF-kappa B activity and apoptosis in chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells," *J Immunol*, vol. 164, pp. 2200-6, 2000.
- [272] L. Granziero, P. Ghia, P. Circosta, D. Gottardi, G. Strola, M. Geuna, L. Montagna, P. Piccoli, M. Chilosi, and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "Survivin is expressed on CD40 stimulation and interfaces proliferation and apoptosis in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 97, pp. 2777-83, 2001.
- [273] E. A. Ranheim and T. J. Kipps, "Activated T cells induce expression of B7/BB1 on normal or leukemic B cells through a CD40-dependent signal," *J Exp Med*, vol. 177, pp. 925-35, 1993.
- [274] D. Wang, G. J. Freeman, H. Levine, J. Ritz, and M. J. Robertson, "Role of the CD40 and CD95 (APO-1/Fas) antigens in the apoptosis of human B-cell malignancies," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 97, pp. 409-17, 1997.
- [275] M. J. Yellin, J. Sinning, L. R. Covey, W. Sherman, J. J. Lee, E. Glickman-Nir, K. C. Sippel, J. Rogers, A. M. Cleary, M. Parker, and et al., "T lymphocyte T cell-B cell-activating molecule/CD40-L molecules induce normal B cells or chronic lymphocytic leukemia B cells to express CD80 (B7/BB-1) and enhance their costimulatory activity," J Immunol, vol. 153, pp. 666-74, 1994.
- [276] L. Granziero, P. Circosta, C. Scielzo, E. Frisaldi, S. Stella, M. Geuna, S. Giordano, P. Ghia, and F. Caligaris-Cappio, "CD100/Plexin-B1 interactions sustain proliferation and survival of normal and leukemic CD5+ B lymphocytes," *Blood*, vol. 101, pp. 1962-9, 2003.
- [277] G. U. von Bulow and R. J. Bram, "NF-AT activation induced by a CAML-interacting member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily," *Science*, vol. 278, pp. 138-41, 1997.
- [278] B. Huard, P. Schneider, D. Mauri, J. Tschopp, and L. E. French, "T cell costimulation by the TNF ligand BAFF," *J Immunol*, vol. 167, pp. 6225-31, 2001.

- [279] F. Farace, F. Orlanducci, P. Y. Dietrich, C. Gaudin, E. Angevin, M. H. Courtier, C. Bayle, T. Hercend, and F. Triebel, "T cell repertoire in patients with B chronic lymphocytic leukemia. Evidence for multiple in vivo T cell clonal expansions," J Immunol, vol. 153, pp. 4281-90, 1994.
- [280] D. Serrano, J. Monteiro, S. L. Allen, J. Kolitz, P. Schulman, S. M. Lichtman, A. Buchbinder, V. P. Vinciguerra, N. Chiorazzi, and P. K. Gregersen, "Clonal expansion within the CD4+CD57+ and CD8+CD57+ T cell subsets in chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *J Immunol*, vol. 158, pp. 1482-9, 1997.
- [281] T. Wen, H. Mellstedt, and M. Jondal, "Presence of clonal T cell populations in chronic B lymphocytic leukemia and smoldering myeloma," J Exp Med, vol. 171, pp. 659-66, 1990.
- [282] C. L. Amos, A. Woetmann, M. Nielsen, C. Geisler, N. Odum, B. L. Brown, and P. R. Dobson, "The role of caspase 3 and BclxL in the action of interleukin 7 (IL-7): a survival factor in activated human T cells," *Cytokine*, vol. 10, pp. 662-8, 1998.
- [283] M. R. Rezvany, M. Jeddi-Tehrani, A. Osterborg, E. Kimby, H. Wigzell, and H. Mellstedt, "Oligoclonal TCRBV gene usage in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia: major perturbations are preferentially seen within the CD4 T-cell subset," *Blood*, vol. 94, pp. 1063-9, 1999.
- [284] M. R. Rezvany, M. Jeddi-Tehrani, H. Wigzell, A. Osterborg, and H. Mellstedt, "Leukemia-associated monoclonal and oligoclonal TCR-BV use in patients with B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Blood*, vol. 101, pp. 1063-70, 2003.
- [285] A. Bianchi, S. Mariani, E. Beggiato, P. Borrione, S. Peola, M. Boccadoro, A. Pileri, and M. Massaia, "Distribution of T-cell signalling molecules in human myeloma," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 97, pp. 815-20, 1997.
- [286] R. D. Brown, B. Pope, E. Yuen, J. Gibson, and D. E. Joshua, "The expression of T cell related costimulatory molecules in multiple myeloma," *Leuk Lymphoma*, vol. 31, pp. 379-84, 1998.
- [287] M. A. Frassanito, A. Cusmai, and F. Dammacco, "Deregulated cytokine network and defective Th1 immune response in multiple myeloma," *Clin Exp Immunol*, vol. 125, pp. 190-7, 2001.
- [288] C. A. Chambers, M. S. Kuhns, J. G. Egen, and J. P. Allison, "CTLA-4-mediated inhibition in regulation of T cell responses: mechanisms and manipulation in tumor immunotherapy," *Annu Rev Immunol*, vol. 19, pp. 565-94, 2001.
- [289] M. B. Tompkins, M. E. Bull, J. L. Dow, J. M. Ball, E. W. Collisson, B. J. Winslow, A. P. Phadke, T. W. Vahlenkamp, and W. A. Tompkins, "Feline immunodeficiency virus infection is characterized by B7+CTLA4+ T cell apoptosis," *J Infect Dis*, vol. 185, pp. 1077-93, 2002.
- [290] X. Chen, A. Woiciechowsky, S. Raffegerst, D. Schendel, H. J. Kolb, and M. Roskrow, "Impaired expression of the CD3-zeta chain in peripheral blood T cells of patients with chronic myeloid leukaemia results in an increased susceptibility to apoptosis," *Br J Haematol*, vol. 111, pp. 817-25, 2000.
- [291] C. W. Kim, S. H. Choi, E. J. Chung, M. J. Lee, E. K. Byun, M. H. Ryu, and Y. J. Bang, "Alteration of signal-transducing molecules and phenotypical characteristics in peripheral blood lymphocytes from gastric carcinoma patients," *Pathobiology*, vol. 67, pp. 123-8, 1999.
- [292] C. Maccalli, P. Pisarra, C. Vegetti, M. Sensi, G. Parmiani, and A. Anichini, "Differential loss of T cell signaling molecules in metastatic melanoma patients' T lymphocyte subsets expressing distinct TCR variable regions," *J Immunol*, vol. 163, pp. 6912-23, 1999.

- [293] S. Scrivener, R. V. Goddard, E. R. Kaminski, and A. G. Prentice, "Abnormal T-cell function in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukaemia," *Leuk Lymphoma*, vol. 44, pp. 383-9, 2003.
- [294] A. Österborg, M. J. Dyer, D. Bunjes, G. A. Pangalis, Y. Bastion, D. Catovsky, and H. Mellstedt, "Phase II multicenter study of human CD52 antibody in previously treated chronic lymphocytic leukemia. European Study Group of CAMPATH-1H Treatment in Chronic Lymphocytic Leukemia," *J Clin Oncol*, vol. 15, pp. 1567-74, 1997.
- [295] J. Jurlander, "The cellular biology of B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," Crit Rev Oncol Hematol, vol. 27, pp. 29-52, 1998.
- [296] C. Billard, C. Kern, R. Tang, F. Ajchenbaum-Cymbalista, and J. P. Kolb, "Flavopiridol downregulates the expression of both the inducible NO synthase and p27(kip1) in malignant cells from B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia," *Leukemia*, vol. 17, pp. 2435-43, 2003.
- [297] M. C. Levesque, M. A. Misukonis, C. W. O'Loughlin, Y. Chen, B. E. Beasley, D. L. Wilson, D. J. Adams, R. Silber, and J. B. Weinberg, "IL-4 and interferon gamma regulate expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase in chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells," *Leukemia*, vol. 17, pp. 442-50, 2003.
- [298] H. Zhao, N. Dugas, C. Mathiot, A. Delmer, B. Dugas, F. Sigaux, and J. P. Kolb, "B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia cells express a functional inducible nitric oxide synthase displaying anti-apoptotic activity," *Blood*, vol. 92, pp. 1031-43, 1998.
- [299] S. Nabeshima, M. Nomoto, G. Matsuzaki, K. Kishihara, H. Taniguchi, S. Yoshida, and K. Nomoto, "T-Cell hyporesponsiveness induced by activated macrophages through nitric oxide production in mice infected with Mycobacterium tuberculosis," *Infect Immun*, vol. 67, pp. 3221-6, 1999.
- [300] P. A. Kiberstis and J. John Travis, "Celebrating a Glass Half-Full," Science, vol. 312, pp. 1157, 2006.
- [301] K. L. Knutson, Y. Dang, H. Lu, J. Lukas, B. Almand, E. Gad, E. Azeke, and M. L. Disis, "IL-2 immunotoxin therapy modulates tumor-associated regulatory T cells and leads to lasting immune-mediated rejection of breast cancers in neu-transgenic mice," *J Immunol*, vol. 177, pp. 84-91, 2006.
- [302] D. F. McDermott, M. M. Regan, and M. B. Atkins, "Interleukin-2 Therapy of Metastatic Renal Cell Carcinoma: Update of Phase III Trials," *Clin Genitourin Cancer*, vol. 5, pp. 114-9, 2006.
- [303] J. A. Thompson, R. A. Figlin, C. Sifri-Steele, R. J. Berenson, and M. W. Frohlich, "A phase I trial of CD3/CD28-activated T cells (Xcellerated T cells) and interleukin-2 in patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma," *Clin Cancer Res*, vol. 9, pp. 3562-70, 2003.
- [304] D. L. Porter, L. Levine, N. Bunin, E. A. Stadtmauer, S. M. Luger, S. Goldstein, A. Loren, J. Phillips, S. Nasta, A. Perl, S. Schuster, D. Tsai, A. Sohal, E. Veloso, S. Emerson, and C. H. June, "A phase 1 trial of donor lymphocyte infusions expanded and activated ex vivo via CD3/CD28 costimulation," *Blood*, vol 107, pp. 1325-31, 2006.
- [305] T. Hunig and K. Dennehy, "CD28 superagonists: mode of action and therapeutic potential," *Immunol Lett*, vol. 100, pp. 21-8, 2005.
- [306] C. Berger, C. A. Blau, T. Clackson, S. R. Riddell, and S. Heimfeld, CCD28 costimulation and immunoaffinity-based selection efficiently generate primary gene-modified T cells for adoptive immunotherapy," *Blood*, vol. 101, pp. 476-84, 2003.
- [307] C. Ferrand, E. Robinet, E. Contassot, J. M. Certoux, A. Lim, P. Herve, and P. Tiberghien, "Retrovirus-mediated gene transfer in primary T lymphocytes: influence of the

transduction/selection process and of ex vivo expansion on the T cell receptor beta chain hypervariable region repertoire," *Hum Gene Ther*, vol. 11, pp. 1151-64, 2000.

- [308] A. W. Goldrath and M. J. Bevan, "Selecting and maintaining a diverse T-cell repertoire," *Nature*, vol. 402, pp. 255-62, 1999.
- [309] A. Perez-Diez, P. J. Spiess, N. P. Restifo, P. Matzinger, and F. M. Marincola, "Intensity of the vaccine-elicited immune response determines tumor clearance," *J Immunol*, vol. 168, pp. 338-47, 2002.
- [310] D. E. Speiser, D. Rimoldi, P. Batard, D. Lienard, F. Lejeune, J. C. Cerottini, and P. Romero, "Disease-driven T cell activation predicts immune responses to vaccination against melanoma," *Cancer Immun*, vol. 3, pp. 12, 2003.